
Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 
 

City Council Workshop & Meeting 
Agenda 

 November 6, 2023 
Auburn Hall, Council Chambers 

                                                                                                             
 
 
7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting  
 
Moment of Silence and In Memoriam  
 
Call to Order - Roll call votes will begin with Councilor Morin 
 
Pledge of Allegiance   
 

I. Consent Items – All items with an asterisk (*) are considered routine and will be enacted by one motion.  
There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Council member or a citizen requests, in which 
event, the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in its normal sequence on the 
agenda. 
 

1. Order 142-11062023 
Appointing Warden’s and Ward Clerks for the Nov. 7, 2023 Election. 
 

II. Minutes 

• October 16, 2023 Regular City Council Meeting 

• October 23, 2023, Special City Council Meeting 
 

III. Communications, Presentations and Recognitions  

• Communication – Special Event/Mass Gathering Application for New Year’s Eve Auburn Event 

• Public Safety Wellness Program – Police Chief Jason Moen and FIre Chief Robert Chase 

• Council Communications (about and to the community) 
 

IV. Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 
City business or any item that does not appear on the agenda.   
 

V. Unfinished Business  

 
1. Ordinance 22-10162023 

Amending the Auburn Zoning Ordinance – Minimum Dwelling Size. Public hearing and second reading. 
 

2. Ordinance 23-10162023 
Amending the Auburn Zoning Map, Area B change, from UR, SR, and LDCR to T4.2B. Public hearing and 
second reading. 
 

3. Public hearing - Miller Street Discontinuance. 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

  

VI. New Business  
 

1. Order 143-11062023 
Approving the discontinuance of Chestnut Street. 

 
2. Order 144-11062023 

Amending the Downtown Omnibus TIF #10. Public hearing and vote. 
 

3. Order 145-11062023 
Allocating $10,000.00 from ARPA (American Rescue Plan Act) funds to Rebuilding Together 
Lewiston/Auburn who will make necessary repairs to homes of those financially unable to do so. 

 
4. Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

City business or any item that does not appear on the agenda. 
 

5. Reports (from sub-committees to Council) 
a. Mayor’s Report  
b. City Councilors’ Reports  
c. City Manager Report 

 
IX. Executive Sessions  

 
 X. Adjournment 



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  November 6, 2023   Order: 142-11062023   
 
Author:  Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 
 
Subject:  Appointing Wardens and Ward Clerks for the November 7, 2023 Election. 
 
Information:   
 
Warden and Ward Clerk Appointments are normally made every two years, however, there have been 
vacancies and challenges filling these positions. The City Clerk has nominated the individuals below to fill the 
Warden and Ward Clerk vacancies for the November 7, 2023 Election. 
 
Audrey Murphy - Warden 
Christine Sirois – Ward Clerk 
Robert Hayes – Warden 
Carl Young – Ward Clerk 
Paul Ouellette – Warden 
Doreen Jordan – Warden 
Alice Dill – Ward Clerk 
Miles Smith – Warden 
Sue Martin – Ward Clerk 

 
City Budgetary Impacts: N/A 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Recommend passage. 

 
Previous Meetings and History: Appointments are made every two years or when there is a vacancy. 
 
City Manager Comments:  
 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:   
 
Attachments: Order  

 



 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 142-11062023 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints the following to serve as Wardens & Ward 
Clerks for the November 7, 2023 Election. 
 

Audrey Murphy - Warden 
Christine Sirois – Ward Clerk 
Robert Hayes – Warden 
Carl Young – Ward Clerk 
Paul Ouellette – Warden 
Doreen Jordan – Warden 
Alice Dill – Ward Clerk 
Miles Smith – Warden 
Sue Martin – Ward Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



































Page 1 of 1 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  November 6, 2023  Ordinance: 22-10162023 

Author: John Blais, Deputy Director of Planning and Permitting 

Subject: Second reading on minimum dwelling size pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2-Sec.60-2 
Definitions 

Information:  This text amendment proposes to close the gap between 401 square feet and 699 square feet in 
size which are not permitted in the City of Auburn and differentiates minimum sizes between detached 
dwelling units and accessory dwelling units. The minimum dwelling size in Auburn is currently 700 square feet. 
However, tiny houses are also allowed and defined as being 400 square feet or less. This means that there is 
currently no allowance for homes between 400 and 700 square feet. At the 10/10/2023 planning board public 
hearing the board forwarded a positive recommendation to the Council supporting the proposed changes to 
amend the 700 square feet requirement for single family home minimum dwelling size to include the dwelling 
unit must be at least 400 square feet, above grade and an accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square 
feet in area above grade as specified in state law. The proposed change differentiates between a one family 
detached dwelling and an accessory building. The planning board requested that section 60-2 Definitions- 
number two read that each one-family detached dwelling unit must be at least 400 square feet above grade in 
size. Staff made that change in the draft ordinance to reflect this request in the ordinance language provided 
for your review in this first and now second reading. The planning board also recommended allowing for the 
minimum size of dwelling units and accessory dwelling units in Auburn to change if the Technical Building Code 
and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard.  The text change 
itself is attached to the ordinance accompanying these materials.  

City Budgetary Impacts:  None. 

Staff Recommended Action: Staff recommends that the Council adopt the Second reading of this ordinance 
text change.  

Previous Meetings and History: August 8, 2023- planning board workshop; September 12, 2023- planning 

board workshop; October 10, 2023- planning board public hearing (in-favor 7-0), council meeting, October 16 

(in-favor 7-0).  

City Manager Comments: 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:  

Attachments: Ordinance, recommendation to city council, planning board staff report, zoning text amendment 
sec. 60-2, state rules for LD 2003 and 1706 redlined version, research for planning board questions.  



City of Auburn, Maine 
Planning & Permitting Department 
Eric Cousens, Director 
60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  
www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

 
To: Auburn City Council 
From: Auburn Planning Board 
Subject: Public Hearing on minimum dwelling size pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2-Sec.60-2 
Definitions  
Date: 10/16/2023 

This is the report from the Planning Board regarding the attached text amendments pursuant to Section 60-1496 
of the City of Auburn Ordinances.  After notice and Public Hearings held on October 10, 2023, the Planning 
Board forwards this report to the City Council.  

PROPOSAL: PUBLIC HEARING/ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT: Amend Sec. 60-2- (Definitions) of the 
Zoning Ordinance to reduce the minimum dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 400 square feet and to 
reduce the minimum accessory dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 190 square feet. This item was initiated 
by the Planning Board and is pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2 of the Code of Ordinances. 

MOTION:  David Trask makes a motion; SECOND: Darren Finnegan seconds. 

“I make a motion to recommend sending forward a positive recommendation to council supporting the proposed 
changes to amend the 700 SF requirement for single family home minimum dwelling size to include the dwelling 
unit must be at least 400 square feet, above grade in size, unless the Technical Building Code and Standards 
Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that standard applies. For an 
accessory dwelling unit, an accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square feet, above grade in size, unless 
the Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum 
standard; if so, that standard applies for an accessory dwelling. I would also request that section 60-2 Definitions- 
number two read ‘each one family detached dwelling unit must be at least 400 square feet above grade in size 
and an accessory detached dwelling unit must be 190 square feet above grade in size, unless the technical 
building code and standards board pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard if so, that 
standard applies.’” VOTE: 7-0-0 motion passes.  
 

  

 

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-02-11 19:30:55 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 25) 

 
Page 1 of 2 

Sec. 60-2. Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and terms as used herein shall have the meanings or 
limitations of meaning hereby defined, explained or assigned:  

Dwelling means a building or portion thereof arranged or designed to provide living facilities for one or more 
families.  

Dwelling, multifamily, means a residence designed for or occupied by three or more families with separate 
housekeeping and cooking facilities for each.  

I. Dwelling, one-family attached, means a residential structure designed to house a single-family unit from 
lowest level to roof, with private outside entrance, but not necessarily occupying a private lot, and sharing 
a common wall or walls with an adjoining dwelling unit or units. Each one-family attached dwelling shall 

contain not less than 700 square feet of net floor area of habitable space. Each one-family attached 

accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square feet, above grade in size, unless the Technical 

Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if 

so, that standard applies. 

  

II. Dwelling, one-family detached, means a dwelling unit singly and apart from any other building and 
intended and designed to be occupied and used exclusively for residential purposes by one family only, 
excluding those forms of temporary housing permitted by section 60-666. Each one-family detached 
dwelling shall contain not less than 700 square feet of net floor area of habitable space. Each one family 
detached dwelling unit must be at least 400 square feet above grade in size, and, an accessory detached 

dwelling unit must be 190 square feet, above grade in size, unless the Technical Building Code and 

Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that standard 

applies. 

 

Dwelling, seasonal, means a dwelling occupied for not more than six months of any year.  

Dwelling, two-family, means a freestanding building intended and designed to be occupied and used 
exclusively for residential purposes by two families only, with separate housekeeping and cooking facilities for 
each.  

Dwelling unit means a room or group of rooms located within a building and forming a single habitable unit, 
physically separated from any other rooms or dwelling units which may be in the same structure, with facilities 
which are used for or intended to be used for independent living, sleeping, cooking and eating purposes. Dwelling 
units available for rental or occupancy for periods of less than one week shall be considered boarding/lodging 
units.  

Mobile homes, newer, means those units constructed after June 15, 1976, commonly called "newer mobile 
homes," which the manufacture certifies are constructed in compliance with the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development standards, meaning structures, transportable in one or more sections, which, in 
the traveling mode, are 14 body feet or more in width and are 400 or more square feet andand are 700 or more 
square feet, and which are built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used as dwellings on foundations 
when connected to the required utilities, including the plumbing, heating, air conditioning and electrical system 
contained therein; except that the term "newer mobile homes" includes any structure which meets all the 
requirements of this definition, except the size requirements and with respect to which the manufacturer 
voluntarily files a certification required by the Secretary of the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
development and complies with the standard established under the National Manufactured Housing Construction 
and Safety Standards Act of 1974, United States Code, 42 USC 5401 et seq.  



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-02-11 19:30:55 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 25) 

 
Page 2 of 2 

Mobile homes, older, means any factory-built home which fails to meet the definition of manufactured 
housing and more specifically, the term "older mobile homes" means any mobile home constructed prior to June 
15, 1976. These units shall be restricted to approved mobile home parks.  

Modular homes means those units which the manufacturer certifies are constructed in compliance with the 
state's Manufactured Housing Act and regulations, meaning structures, transportable in one or more sections, 
which are not constructed on a permanent chassis and are designed to be used as dwellings on foundations when 
connected to required utilities, including the plumbing, heating, air conditioning or electrical systems contained 
therein.  

 



City of Auburn, Maine 

Office of Planning & Permitting 

Eric Cousens, Director 

60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  

www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

                                                    

Is To:  Auburn Planning Board 

From: John Blais, Deputy Director  

Re:  Public Hearing on minimum dwelling size pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2-Sec.60-2 

Definitions 

 

Date: October 10, 2023 

 

I. PROPOSAL: Currently, the existing ordinance definition requires a minimum of 700 SF of net floor 

space for single-family attached and detached dwelling. State Law (Chapter 219, Sec 1. 30-A MRSA 

§4363), provides provisions for tiny homes with no minimum size of up to 400 square feet. However, 

this leaves a gap in the allowable size of new dwelling units, where units ranging from 401 to 699 SF are 

in what is considered a “void in allowance” and is currently not allowed. Planning Board at the August 

10, 2023, meeting requested additional clarifying information to include the following: 

 

A. Tiny Home Statute and Guidance from the State Fire Marshall  

B. Density; Remains the same, but could see increase as LD 2003/1706/Chapter 5 

C. Lending Specialist (Value vs. Square Footage) 

D. Adopted Language by Department of Economic and Community Development LD 

2003/1706/Chapter 5 

 

On the September 12, 2023, workshop, planning board asked to identify both accessory dwelling size 

and dwelling size to provide guidance for revised minimum standards that meet requirements under the 

tiny home provision and banking standards.  

 

A. A tiny house has two potential types of tiny homes; constructed on a trailer that may be mobile and 

potentially moved from where it was constructed to a site for use as a “dwelling unit for human 

occupancy” or constructed on a site in a more traditional stick-built manner but meeting certain size 

standards established in the laws and codes adopted. Maximum size is 400 SF. Construction is regulated 

under two standards; If the tiny home is constructed on a frame or chassis, it is considered within the 

motor vehicle regulations and will require a title similar to an RV intended for use in public ways. This 

unit construction type is regulated by ANSI A119.5 or NFPA 1192.  

The second type of tiny home would be a structure constructed under the same codes standards as a 

larger, more traditional dwelling on a foundation, but still meeting size requirements of less than 400 SF 

This unit construction is identified in the Maine Uniform Building and Energy Code (MUBEC) rules 

under the International Residential Code (IRC), Chapter 5. 

 

B. Density is dependent upon the underlying zone, but LD 2003 and 1706 suggest the following language 

under the Department of Economic and Community Development guidelines under chapter 5. Dwelling 

Unit Allowance 

 

 If a lot does not contain an existing dwelling unit, municipalities must allow up to four (4) 

dwelling units per lot if the lot is located in an area in which housing is allowed, meets the requirements 

in 12 M.R.S. Ch. 423-A, and is: 



Page 2 of 2 

 

i. Located within a designated growth area consistent with 30-A M.R.S. 

§4349 A(1)(A)-(B); or 

 

ii. Served by both a public, special district or other centrally managed water 

system and a public, special district or other comparable sewer system in a 

municipality without a comprehensive plan. 

 

C. Lending Rules and Value per Assessing/Appraiser: As a rule, lenders will not mortgage the typical 

dwelling that has a foundation and is stick built between 190 livable square feet (SF) and 500 SF as per 

the general lending rules followed by the banks underwriting team. They currently are not financing any 

home smaller than 500 SF. For lower income home buyers who utilize Maine State Housing Agency, 

(MSHA) won't finance smaller than 500 sq ft and most banks follow their policy since they do quite a 

few MSHA loans. In addition, for any purchase where the buyer can't put 20% down the loan will need 

Private Mortgage Insurance (PMI) and the insurers have a minimum home size of 500 sq ft.  

The typical RV intended tiny home that can be towed over the road will never be considered as separate 

mortgage, some tiny homes are being financed through home equity lending practices.  

 

The appraisal does consider value in the finished basement but does not consider it actual SF therefore 

the value is diminished some. The lending institutions, as a rule would write a mortgage for a 500 SF 

home regardless of if part of the finished space is below grade if the home meets all the ordinance, 

building code and utility requirements.  

 

D. D. REF: Chapter 5, An accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square feet in size, unless the 

Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different 

minimum standard; if so, that standard applies. To note: LD 2003/1706/Chapter 5 is silent on where the 

190 SF is derived from the basement or above grade. The municipality has discretion to determine 

whether to consider finished basements as part of that 190 SF.  

 

As this smaller home movement gets momentum and policies at state and insurer level are 

updated, staff is guessing banks will make changes too, therefore is suggesting 190 SF above grade 

for minimum Square Feet.   

 

II. PLANNING BOARD ACTION/STAFF SUGGESTIONS: Staff suggest a planning board discuss the 

proposals and hold a public hearing. Staff then recommends that the Board forward a positive 

recommendation to the Council supporting the proposed changes to amend the 700 SF requirement for 

single family home minimum dwelling size to include the dwelling unit must be at least 400 square feet, 

above grade in size, unless the Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. 

§9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that standard applies for an accessory dwelling unit of 190 

square feet, above grade in size, unless the Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 

10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that standard applies for an accessory dwelling. 

 

























 
 

19-100  DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
Chapter 5: HOUSING OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM: MUNICIPAL LAND USE AND 

ZONING ORDINANCE RULE 
 
 
Summary: This chapter sets forth the provisions which require municipalities to create or amend local 
ordinances to allow for (1) additional density for affordable housing developments in certain areas; 
(2) multiple dwelling units on lots designated for housing; and (3) one accessory dwelling unit located on 
the same lot as a single-family dwelling unit in any area where housing is permitted. 
 
Note: This chapter incorporates by reference certain material. The Appendix lists the material that is 
incorporated by reference, the date for each reference, and the organization where copies of the material 
are available. 
 
 
 
SECTION 1. PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS 
 

A. PURPOSE 
 

1. This chapter sets forth the provisions which require municipalities to create or 
amend local ordinances to allow for (1) additional density for affordable housing 
developments in certain areas; (2) multiple dwelling units on lots designated for 
housing; and (3) one accessory dwelling unit located on the same lot as a single-
family dwelling unit in any area where housing is permitted. 

 
2. Municipalities need not adopt this rule language or the statutory language in 30-

A M.R.S. §§ 4364 to 4364-B P.L. 2021 Ch. 672 word for word. The Department 
encourages municipalities to consider local planning documents and other special 
local considerations, and to modify language into one that meets the needs of a 
particular community and the minimum requirements of this legislation. 
Municipalities may wish to adopt ordinances that are more permissive, provided 
that such ordinances are equally or more effective in achieving the goal of 
increasing housing opportunities. If a municipality does not adopt ordinances to 
comply with 30-A M.R.S. §§ 4364 to 4364-B P.L. 2021 Ch. 672, this legislation 
will preempt municipal home rule authority. 

 
3. These rules do not: 

 
a) Abrogate or annul the validity or enforceability of any valid and 

enforceable easement, covenant, deed restriction or other agreement or 
instrument between private parties that imposes greater restrictions than 
those provided in this rule, as long as the agreement does not abrogate 
rights pursuant to the United States Constitution or the Constitution of 
Maine; 

 
b) Exempt a subdivider from the requirements in Title 30-A Chapter 187 

subchapter 4; 
 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 2 

c) Exempt an affordable housing development, a dwelling unit, or 
accessory dwelling unit from the shoreland zoning requirements 
established by the Department of Environmental Protection pursuant to 
Title 38 Chapter 3 and municipal shoreland zoning ordinances; or 

 
d) Abrogate or annul minimum lot size requirements under Title 12 

Chapter 423-A; or. 
 

d)e) Apply to a lot or portion of a lot that is within the watershed of a water 
source located in Lewiston or Auburn and that is used to provide 
drinking water by a water utility that has received a waiver from 
filtration pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 141.70 to 141.76, as determined by 
the Maine Department of Health and Human Services.  

 
B. DEFINITIONS 

 
All terms used but not defined in this chapter shall have the meanings ascribed to those 
terms in Chapter 187 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended. 
Municipalities need not adopt the terms and definitions outlined below word for word. 
The Department encourages municipalities to consider local planning documents and 
other special local considerations, and to modify language into one that meets the needs 
of a particular community. Municipalities may wish to adopt terms and definitions that 
are more permissive, provided that such terms and definitions are equally or more 
effective in achieving the goal of increasing housing opportunities. 
 
Accessory dwelling unit. "Accessory dwelling unit" means a self-contained dwelling 
unit located within, attached to or detached from a single-family dwelling unit located on 
the same parcel of land. An accessory dwelling unit must be a minimum of 190 square 
feet and municipalities may impose a maximum size. 
 
Affordable housing development. “Affordable housing development” means 

 
1. For rental housing, a development in which a household whose income 

does not exceed 80% of the median income for the area as defined by the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under the 
United States Housing Act of 1937, Public Law 75-412, 50 Stat. 888, 
Section 8, as amended, can afford a majority51% or more of the units 
that the developer designates as affordable  in the development without 
spending more than 30% of the household's monthly income on housing 
costs; and 

 
2. For owned housing, a development in which a household whose income 

does not exceed 120% of the median income for the area as defined by 
the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under 
the United States Housing Act of 1937, Public Law 75-412, 50 Stat. 888, 
Section 8, as amended, can afford a majority51% or more of the units 
that the developer designates as affordable  in the development without 
spending more than 30% of the household's monthly income on housing 
costs. 

 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 3 

3. For purposes of this definition, “majority” means more than half of 
proposed and existing units on the same lot. 

 
4.3. For purposes of this definition, “housing costs” include, but are not 

limited to: 
 

a) For a rental unit, the cost of rent and any utilities (electric, heat, 
water, sewer, and/or trash) that the household pays separately 
from the rent; and 

 
b) For an ownership unit, the cost of mortgage principal and 

interest, real estate taxes (including assessments), private 
mortgage insurance, homeowner’s insurance, condominium fees, 
and homeowners’ association fees. 

 
Area median income. “Area median income” means the midpoint of a region’s income 
distribution calculated on an annual basis by the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban 
Development. 
 
Attached. “Attached” means connected by a shared wall to the principal structure or 
having physically connected finished spaces. 
 
Base density. “Base density” means the maximum number of units allowed on a lot not 
used for affordable housing based on dimensional requirements in a local land use or 
zoning ordinance. This does not include local density bonuses, transferable development 
rights, or other similar means that could increase the density of lots not used for 
affordable housing. 
 
Centrally managed water system. “Centrally managed water system” means a water 
system that provides water for human consumption through pipes or other constructed 
conveyances to at least 15 service connections or serves an average of at least 25 people 
for at least 60 days a year as regulated by 10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 231, Rules Relating to 
Drinking Water. This water system may be privately owned. 
 
Certificate of occupancy. “Certificate of occupancy” means the municipal approval for 
occupancy granted pursuant to 25 M.R.S. §2357-A or the Maine Uniform Building and 
Energy Code adopted pursuant to Title 10 Chapter 1103. Certificate of occupancy may 
also be referred to as issuance of certificate of occupancy or other terms with a similar 
intent. 
 
Comparable sewer system. “Comparable sewer system” means any subsurface 
wastewater disposal system that discharges over 2,000 gallons of wastewater per day as 
regulated by 10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 241, Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 
 
Comprehensive plan. "Comprehensive plan" means a document or interrelated 
documents consistent with 30-A M.R.S. § 4326(1)-(4), including the strategies for an 
implementation program which are consistent with the goals and guidelines established 
pursuant to Title 30-A Chapter 187 Subchapter II. 
 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 4 

Conditional use. “Conditional use” means a use permitted on a lot in a zoning district by 
a municipal legislative body, subject to certain conditions not generally applicable to 
other lots located in that zoning district.  
 
Density requirements. “Density requirements” mean the maximum number of dwelling 
units allowed on a lot, subject to dimensional requirements. 
 
Designated growth area. “Designated growth area” means an area that is designated in a 
municipality's or multi-municipal region's comprehensive plan as suitable for orderly 
residential, commercial, or industrial development, or any combination of those types of 
development, and into which most development projected over ten (10) years is directed. 
Designated growth areas may also be referred to as priority development zones or other 
terms with a similar intent. If a municipality does not have a comprehensive plan, 
“designated growth area” means an area served by a public sewer system that has the 
capacity for the growth-related project, an area identified in the latest Federal Decennial 
Census as a census-designated place or a compact area of an urban compact municipality 
as defined by 23 M.R.S. §754. 
 
Dimensional requirements. “Dimensional requirements” mean requirements which 
govern the size and placement of structures including, but limited not to, the following 
requirements: building height, lot area, minimum frontage and lot depth. 
 
Duplex. “Duplex” means a structure containing two (2) dwelling units.  
 
Dwelling unit. “Dwelling unit” means any part of a structure which, through sale or 
lease, is intended for human habitation, including single-family and multifamily housing, 
condominiums, time-share units, and apartments. 
 
Existing dwelling unit. “Existing dwelling unit” means a residential unit in existence on 
a lot at the time of submission of a permit application to build additional units on that lot. 
If a municipality does not have a permitting process, the dwelling unit on a lot must be in 
existence at the time construction begins for additional units on a lot. 
 
Housing. “Housing” means any part of a structure which, through sale or lease, is 
intended for human habitation, including single-family and multifamily housing, 
condominiums, time-share units, and apartments. For purposes of this rule, theis does not 
include dormitories, boarding houses or other similar types of  housing units; (2); and (3)  
This also does not include tTransient housing or short-term rentals, unless these uses are 
otherwise allowed in local ordinance. 
 
Implementation date. “Implementation date” means:  
 

1. January 1, 2024, for municipalities for which ordinances may be enacted by 
the municipal officers without further action or approval by the voters of the 
municipality; and  
 

2. July 1, 2024, for all other municipalities.  
 
 

 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 5 

3. For purposes of this definition, “further action or approval by the voters of 
the municipality” means municipalities that have a town meeting form of 
government. 

 
 
Land use ordinance. "Land use ordinance" means an ordinance or regulation of general 
application adopted by the municipal legislative body which controls, directs, or 
delineates allowable uses of land and the standards for those uses. 
 
Lot. “Lot” means a single parcel of developed or undeveloped land. 
 
Multifamily dwelling. “Multifamily dwelling” means a structure containing three (3) or 
more dwelling units. 
 
Municipality. “Municipality” means a city or a town, excluding all unorganized and 
deorganized townships, plantations, and towns that have delegated administration of land 
use controls to the Maine Land Use Planning Commission pursuant to 12 M.R.S. 
§682(1). 
 

 
Potable. “Potable” means safe for drinking as defined by the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA) Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories Table and 
Maine’s interim drinking water standards for six different perfluoroalkyl and 
polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), Resolve 2021 Chapter 82, Resolve, To Protect 
Consumers of Public Drinking Water by Establishing Maximum Contaminant Level for 
Certain Substances and Contaminants. 
 
Principal structure. "Principal structure" means a structure in which the main or 
primary use of the structure is conducted. For purposes of this rule, principal structure 
does not include commercial buildings. 
 
Quadplex. “Quadplex” means a structure containing 4 (four) dwelling units.  
 
Residential use. “Residential use” means a use permitted in an area by a municipal 
legislative body to be used for human habitation. Residential uses may include single-
family, duplex, triplex, quadplex, and other multifamily housing; condominiums; time-
share units; and apartments. For purposes of this rule, the following uses are not included 
under this definition, unless otherwise allowed in local ordinance: (1) Dormitories; (2) 
Congregate living facilities; (3) Campgrounds, campsites, hotels, motels, beds and 
breakfasts, or other types of lodging accommodations; and (4) Transient housing or short-
term rentals. 
 
Restrictive covenant. “Restrictive covenant” means a provision in a deed, or other 
covenant conveying real property, restricting the use of the land. 
 
Setback requirements. “Setback requirements” mean the minimum horizontal distance 
from a lot line, shoreline, or road to the nearest part of a structure, or other regulated 
object or area as defined in local ordinance. 
 
Single-family dwelling unit. “Single-family dwelling unit” means a structure containing 
one (1) dwelling unit. 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 6 

 
Structure. “Structure” means anything temporarily or permanently located, built, 
constructed or erected for the support, shelter or enclosure of persons as defined in 
38 M.R.S. §436-A(12). 
 
Triplex. “Triplex” means a structure containing three (3) dwelling units.   
 

 
Zoning ordinance. "Zoning ordinance" means a type of land use ordinance that divides a 
municipality into districts and that prescribes and reasonably applies different regulations 
in each district. 

 
 
SECTION 2. AFFORDABLE HOUSING DENSITY 
 

A. GENERAL 
 

This Section requires municipalities to allow an automatic density bonus for certain 
affordable housing developments approved on or after July 1, 2023the implementation 
date, as outlined below. This section only applies to lots in zoning districts that have 
adopted density requirements. 

 
B. ELIGIBILITY FOR DENSITY BONUS 
 

1. For purposes of this section, a municipality shall verify that the development: 
 

a) Is an affordable housing development as defined in this chapter, which 
includes the requirement that a majority of the total units on the lot are 
affordable; 

 
b) Is in a designated growth area pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. §4349-A(1)(A) 

or (B) or served by a public, special district or other centrally managed 
water system and a public, special district or other comparable sewer 
system; 

 
c) Is located in an area in which multifamily dwellings are allowed per 

municipal ordinance; 
 
d) Complies with minimum lot size requirements in accordance with 

Title 12 Chapter 423-A; and 
 
e) Owner provides written verification that each unit of the housing 

development is proposed to be connected to adequate water and 
wastewater services prior to certification of the development for 
occupancy or similar type of approval process. Written verification must 
include the following: 

 
i. If a housing unit is connected to a public, special district or other 

comparable sewer system, proof of adequate service to support 
any additional flow created by the unit and proof of payment for 
the connection to the sewer system; 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 7 

 
ii. If a housing unit is connected to a septic system, proof of 

adequate sewage disposal for subsurface wastewater. The septic 
system must be verified as adequate by a local plumbing 
inspector pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. §4221. Plans for a subsurface 
wastewater disposal must be prepared by a licensed site 
evaluator in accordance with 10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 241, 
Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 

 
iii. If a housing unit is connected to a public, special district or other 

centrally managed water system, proof of adequate service to 
support any additional flow created by the unit, proof of payment 
for the connection and the volume and supply of water required 
for the unit; and 

 
iv. If a housing unit is connected to a well, proof of access to 

potable water, including the standards outlined in 01-672 C.M.R. 
Ch. 10 section 10.25(J), Land Use Districts and Standards. Any 
test of an existing well or proposed well must indicate that the 
water supply is potable and acceptable for domestic use. 

 
2. Long-Term Affordability 
 

Prior to granting a certificate of occupancy or other final approval of final 
approval of an affordable housing development, including but not limited to 
issuing an occupancy permit, a municipality must require that the owner of the 
affordable housing development (1) execute a restrictive covenant that is 
enforceable by a party acceptable to the municipality; and (2) record the 
restrictive covenant in the appropriate registry of deeds to ensure that for at least 
thirty (30) years after completion of construction: 

 
a) For rental housing, occupancy of all the units designated affordable in 

the development will remain limited to households at or below 80% of 
the local area median income at the time of initial occupancy; and 

 
b) For owned housing, occupancy of all the units designated affordable in 

the development will remain limited to households at or below 120% of 
the local area median income at the time of initial occupancy. 

 
C. DENSITY BONUS 
 

If the requirements in Section 2(B)(1) and (2) are met, a municipality must: 
 
1. Allow an affordable housing development to have a dwelling unit density of at 

least 2.5 times the base density that is otherwise allowed in that location; and 
 
2. Require no more than two (2) off-street parking motor vehicle spaces for every 

three (3) dwelling units of an affordable housing development. 
 

If fractional results occur when calculating the density bonus in this subsection, the 
number of units is rounded down to the nearest whole number. Local regulation that 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 8 

chooses to round up shall be considered consistent with and not more restrictive than this 
law. The number of motor vehicle parking spaces may be rounded up or down to the 
nearest whole number. 
 
 

 
SECTION 3. DWELLING UNIT ALLOWANCE 
 

A. GENERAL 
 

This section requires municipalities to allow multiple dwelling units on lots where 
housing is residential uses are allowed, including as a conditional use, allowed beginning 
on July 1, 2023the implementation date, subject to the requirements below. The 
requirements listed in Section 3 apply to municipalities with and without zoning. Private, 
state or local standards such as homeowners’ association regulation, deed restrictions, lot 
size, set back, density, septic requirements, minimum lot size, additional parking 
requirements, growth ordinance permits, shoreland zoning and subdivision law, may also 
apply to lots. 

 
B. REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. Dwelling Unit Allowance 
 

a) If a lot does not contain an existing dwelling unit, municipalities must 
allow up to four (4) dwelling units per lot if the lot is located in an area 
in which housing is allowed, meets the requirements in 12 M.R.S. 
Ch. 423-A, and is: 

 
i. Located within a designated growth area consistent with 30-A 

M.R.S. §4349 A(1)(A)-(B); or 
 
ii. Served by both a public, special district or other centrally 

managed water system and a public, special district or other 
comparable sewer system in a municipality without a 
comprehensive plan. 

 
b) If a lot does not contain an existing dwelling unit and does not meet i. or 

ii. above, a municipality must allow up to two (2) dwelling units per lot 
located in an area in which housing is allowed, provided that the 
requirements in 12 M.R.S. Ch. 423-A are met. The two (2) dwelling 
units may be (1) within one structure; or (2) separate structures. 

 
c) If a lot contains one existing dwelling unit, a municipality must allow the 

addition of up to two (2) additional dwelling units: 
 

i. One within the existing structure or attached to the existing 
structure; 

 
ii. One detached from the existing structure; or 
 
iii. One of each. 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 9 

 
d) If a lot contains two existing dwelling units, no additional dwelling units 

may be built on the lot unless allowed under local municipal ordinance. 
 

e) A municipality may allow more units than the minimum number of units 
required to be allowed on all lots that allow housing. 

 
2. Zoning 

 
With respect to dwelling units allowed under this Section, municipalities with 
and without zoning ordinances must comply with the following: 

 
a) If more than one dwelling unit has been constructed on a lot as a result of 

the allowance pursuant to this Section, the lot is not eligible for any 
additional units or increases in density except as allowed by the 
municipality. Municipalities have the discretion to determine if a 
dwelling unit or accessory dwelling unit has been constructed on a lot for 
purposes of this provision. 

 
b) Municipalities may establish a prohibition or an allowance for lots where 

a dwelling unit in existence after July 1, 2023the implementation date, is 
torn down and an empty lot results. 

 
3. Dimensional and Setback Requirements 

 
a) A municipal ordinance may not establish dimensional requirements, 

including but not limited to or setback requirements, for dwelling units 
allowed pursuant to this Section that are more restrictive than the 
dimensional requirements or, including but not limited to setback 
requirements, for single-family housing units. 

 
4. A municipality may establish requirements for a lot area per dwelling unit as 

long as the additional dwelling unitslot area required for each additional dwelling 
unit is proportional to the lot area per dwelling unit of the first unit. 
 

5. Water and Wastewater 
 

a) The municipality must require an owner of a proposed housing structure 
to provide written verification that each proposed structure is to be 
connected to adequate water and wastewater services prior to 
certification of the development for occupancy or similar type of 
approval process. Written verification must include the following: 

 
i. If a housing structure is connected to a public, special district or 

other comparable sewer system, proof of adequate service to 
support any additional flow created by the unit and proof of 
payment for the connection to the sewer system; 

 
ii. If a housing structure is connected to a septic system, proof of 

adequate sewage disposal for subsurface wastewater. The septic 
system must be verified as adequate by a local plumbing 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 10 

inspector pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. §4221. Plans for a subsurface 
wastewater disposal must be prepared by a licensed site 
evaluator in accordance with 10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 241, 
Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules. 

 
iii. If a housing structure is connected to a public, special district or 

other centrally managed water system, proof of adequate service 
to support any additional flow created by the unit, proof of 
payment for the connection and the volume and supply of water 
required for the unit; and 

 
iv. If a housing structure is connected to a well, proof of access to 

potable water, including the standards outlined in 01-672 C.M.R. 
Ch. 10 section 10.25(J), Land Use Districts and Standards. Any 
test of an existing well or proposed well must indicate that the 
water supply is potable and acceptable for domestic use. 

 
C. MUNICIPAL IMPLEMENTATION 

 
In adopting an ordinance, a municipality may: 

 
1. Establish an application and permitting process for dwelling units; 
 
2. Impose fines for violations of building, site plan, zoning, and utility requirements 

for dwelling units; and 
 
3. Establish alternative criteria that are less restrictive than the requirements of 

Section 3(B)(4) for the approval of a dwelling units only in circumstances in 
which the municipality would be able to provide a variance pursuant to 30-A 
M.R.S. §4353(4)(A), (B), or (C). 
 

 
SECTION 4. ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 
 

A. GENERAL 
 

1. A municipality must allow, effective July 1, 2023on the implementation date, one 
accessory dwelling unit to be located on the same lot as a single-family dwelling 
unit in any area in which housing is allowed residential uses are permitted, 
including as a conditional use, subject to the requirements outlined below. The 
requirements listed in Section 4 apply to municipalities with and without zoning. 
Private, state or local standards such as homeowners’ association regulation, deed 
restrictions, set back, density, septic requirements, shoreland zoning and 
subdivision law may also apply to lots. 

 
2. A municipal ordinance that allows more than one accessory dwelling unit or that 

allows accessory dwelling units to be established in relation to duplex, triplex, 
quadplex, and other multi-unit buildings shall be considered consistent with the 
goals of 30-A M.R.S. §§ 4364 to 4364-B. P.L. 2021 Ch. 672. 
 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 11 

2.3. A municipality may not categorically prohibit accessory dwelling units in the 
shoreland zone that would otherwise meet the shoreland zoning requirements 
established by the Department of Environmental Protection, Title 28, Chapter 3, 
and municipal shoreland zoning ordinances.  

 
B. REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. Accessory Dwelling Unit Allowance 

 
An accessory dwelling unit may be constructed only: 

 
a) Within an existing dwelling unit on the lot; 

 
b) Attached to a single-family dwelling unit; or 
 
c) As a new structure on the lot for the primary purpose of creating an 

accessory dwelling unit. 
 

A municipality may allow an accessory dwelling unit to be constructed or 
established within an existing accessory structure, except the setback 
requirements of Section 4(B)(3)(b)(i) shall apply. 

 
2. Zoning 
 

With respect to accessory dwelling units, municipalities with zoning ordinances 
and municipalities without zoning must comply with the following conditions: 

 
(a) At least one accessory dwelling unit must be allowed on any lot where a 

single-family dwelling unit is the principal structure; and 
 
(b) If more than one accessory dwelling unit has been constructed on a lot as 

a result of the allowance pursuant to this Section, the lot is not eligible 
for any additional units or increases in density, except as allowed by the 
municipality. Municipalities have the discretion to determine if a 
dwelling unit or accessory dwelling unit has been constructed on a lot for 
purposes of this provision; and 

 
(c) An accessory dwelling unit is allowed on a lot that does not conform to 

the municipal zoning ordinance if the accessory dwelling unit does not 
further increase the nonconformity, meaning the accessory dwelling unit 
does not cause further deviation from the dimensional standard(s) 
creating the nonconformity, excluding lot area.  

 
 
 

3. Other 
 

With respect to accessory dwelling units, municipalities must comply with the 
following conditions: 

 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 12 

a) A municipality must exempt an accessory dwelling unit from any density 
requirements or lot area requirements related to the area in which the 
accessory dwelling unit is constructed; 

 
b) For an accessory dwelling unit located within the same structure as a 

single-family dwelling unit or attached to a single-family dwelling unit, 
the dimensional requirements, excluding lot area requirements, and 
setback requirements must be the same as the dimensional requirements 
and setback requirements of the single-family dwelling unit; 

 
i. For an accessory dwelling unit permitted in an existing accessory 

building or secondary building or garage as of July 1, 2023the 
implementation date, the required setback requirements in local 
ordinance of the existing accessory or secondary building apply. 

 
c) A municipality may establish more permissive dimensional requirements 

and setback requirements for an accessory dwelling unit. 
 
d) An accessory dwelling unit may not be subject to any additional motor 

vehicle parking requirements beyond the parking requirements of the 
single-family dwelling unit on the lot where the accessory dwelling unit 
is located. 

 
 

d)e) An accessory dwelling unit that was not built with municipal approval 
must be allowed if the accessory dwelling unit otherwise meets the 
requirements for accessory dwelling units of the municipality and under 
this Section.  

 
4. Size 
 

a) An accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square feet in size, 
unless the Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 
10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that 
standard applies. 

 
b) Municipalities may set a maximum size for accessory dwelling units in 

local ordinances, as long as accessory dwelling units are not less than 
190 square feet. 

 
5. Water and Wastewater 

 
A municipality must require an owner of an accessory dwelling unit to provide 
written verification that the proposed accessory dwelling unit is to be connected 
to adequate water and wastewater services prior to certification of the accessory 
dwelling unit for occupancy or similar type of approval process. Written 
verification must include the following: 

 
a) If an accessory dwelling unit is connected to a public, special district or 

other comparable sewer system, proof of adequate service to support any 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 13 

additional flow created by the unit and proof of payment for the 
connection to the sewer system; 

 
b) If an accessory dwelling unit is connected to a septic system, proof of 

adequate sewage disposal for subsurface wastewater. The septic system 
must be verified as adequate by a local plumbing inspector pursuant to 
30-A M.R.S. §4221. Plans for a subsurface wastewater disposal must be 
prepared by a licensed site evaluator in accordance with 10-144 C.M.R. 
Ch. 241, Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules; 

 
c) If an accessory dwelling unit is connected to a public, special district or 

other centrally managed water system, proof of adequate service to 
support any additional flow created by the unit, proof of payment for the 
connection and the volume and supply of water required for the unit; and 

 
d) If an accessory dwelling unit is connected to a well, proof of access to 

potable water, including the standards outlined in 01-672 C.M.R. Ch. 10 
section 10.25(J), Land Use Districts and Standards. Any test of an 
existing well or proposed well must indicate that the water supply is 
potable and acceptable for domestic use. 

 
C. MUNICIPAL IMPLEMENTATION 

 
In adopting an ordinance under this Section, a municipality may: 

 
1. Establish an application and permitting process for accessory dwelling units that  

  does not require planning board approval; 
 

2. Impose fines for violations of building, zoning and utility requirements for 
accessory dwelling units; and 

 
3. Establish alternative criteria that are less restrictive than the above criteria in 

Section 4 for the approval of an accessory dwelling unit only in circumstances in 
which the municipality would be able to provide a variance pursuant to 30-A 
M.R.S. §4353(4)(A), (B), or (C). 

 
D. RATE OF GROWTH ORDINANCE 
 

A permit issued by a municipality for an accessory dwelling unit does not count as a 
permit issued toward a municipality’s rate of growth ordinance pursuant to 30-A M.R.S. 
§4360. 

 
 
 

STATUTORY AUTHORITY: 
 
PL 2021 Ch. 672, PL 2023 Ch. 192, and PL 2023, ch. 264, codified at 30-A M.R.S. §§ 4364, 4364-A, 
4364-B. 
 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE: 



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 14 

 April 18, 2023 – filing 2023-056 
 
AMENDED  
 
  
 
  



 
 
 

19-100 Chapter 5     page 15 

 
APPENDIX 

 
List of Reference Material 

 
Reference Material Location to Obtain Document 

U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency’s (EPA) Drinking Water 
Standards and Health Advisories 

Table, March 2018. 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Office of Water 

Drinking Water Hotline 
1-800-426-4791  

10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 231, Rules 
Relating to Drinking Water,  

May 9, 2016 

Maine Department of Health & Human Services 
Maine Center for Disease Control & Prevention 

11 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333 

207-287-8016 
 

Resolve 2021, Ch. 82, Resolve, 
To Protect Consumers of Public 
Drinking Water by Establishing 
Maximum Contaminant Levels 

for Certain Substances and 
Contaminants 

Maine State Legislature 
Legislative Information Office- Document Room 

100 State House Station 
Augusta, ME 04333 

207-287-1408 
webmaster_house@legislature.maine.gov  

01-672 C.M.R. Ch. 10, Land Use 
Districts and Standards, 

December 30, 2022 

Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation & Forestry 
Bureau of Resource Information and Land Use Planning 

Land Use Planning Commission 
22 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333 

207-287-2631 

10-144 C.M.R. Ch. 241, 
Subsurface Wastewater Disposal 

Rules, August 3, 2015 
 

Maine Department of Health & Human Services 
Maine Center for Disease Control & Prevention 

11 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 04333 

207-287-8016 

 

mailto:webmaster_house@legislature.maine.gov


 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 
Joseph Morin, Ward Four 
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 
Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 
Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 
Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Ordinance 

ORDINANCE 22-10162023 

IN CITY COUNCIL 
 

Be it ordained, That the Auburn City Council amend Sec. 60-2- (Definitions) of the Zoning Ordinance to 
reduce the minimum dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 400 square feet and to reduce the 
minimum accessory dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 190 square feet as shown in the attached 
zoning text amendment. 

 



City of Auburn, Maine 

Planning & Permitting Department 
Eric Cousens, Director 

60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  

www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

 
To: Auburn City Council 

From: Auburn Planning Board 

Subject: Public Hearing on minimum dwelling size pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2-Sec.60-2 

Definitions  

Date: 10/16/2023 

This is the report from the Planning Board regarding the attached text amendments pursuant to Section 60-1496 

of the City of Auburn Ordinances.  After notice and Public Hearings held on October 10, 2023, the Planning 

Board forwards this report to the City Council.  

PROPOSAL: PUBLIC HEARING/ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT: Amend Sec. 60-2- (Definitions) of the 

Zoning Ordinance to reduce the minimum dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 400 square feet and to 

reduce the minimum accessory dwelling unit size from 700 square feet to 190 square feet. This item was initiated 

by the Planning Board and is pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2 of the Code of Ordinances. 

MOTION:  David Trask makes a motion; SECOND: Darren Finnegan seconds. 

“I make a motion to recommend sending forward a positive recommendation to council supporting the proposed 

changes to amend the 700 SF requirement for single family home minimum dwelling size to include the dwelling 

unit must be at least 400 square feet, above grade in size, unless the Technical Building Code and Standards 

Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard; if so, that standard applies. For an 

accessory dwelling unit, an accessory dwelling unit must be at least 190 square feet, above grade in size, unless 

the Technical Building Code and Standards Board, pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum 

standard; if so, that standard applies for an accessory dwelling. I would also request that section 60-2 Definitions- 

number two read ‘each one family detached dwelling unit must be at least 400 square feet above grade in size 

and an accessory detached dwelling unit must be 190 square feet above grade in size, unless the technical 

building code and standards board pursuant to 10 M.R.S. §9722, adopts a different minimum standard if so, that 

standard applies.’” VOTE: 7-0-0 motion passes.  

 

  

 

 



City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

Council Meeting Date: October 16, 2023 Ordinance: 23-10162023 

Author: Katherine Cook, Planning Coordinator  

Subject: Public hearing and second reading on zoning map amendment changing UR and LDCR zoning to T-4.2B in Area B. 

Information: Today the City Council holds the first reading on amending the City of Auburn zoning map to rezone certain 
land area general located near Vickery Road area from Urban Residence zoning district and Low-Density Country 
Residential Zoning District Traditional Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning district. This hearing follows three 
planning board public hearings on the most appropriate zone change supported by the comprehensive plan.  The 
planning board recommended the map amendment as depicted attached as it provides connectivity between the 
Vickery Road neighborhood and the area zoned T-4.2B off South Main Street earlier identified as area A1. The planning 
board’s recommendation includes a request that they later make a recommendation on rezoning the area south of the 
of the proposed T-4.2B boundary to a zone which accommodates a density of approximately eight units per acre. Staff 
plans to bring this additional as a separate consideration for workshop in December.  

City Budgetary Impacts:  None known. 

Staff Recommended Action: Staff suggests that council adopt the 2nd reading of this zoning map amendment. 

Previous Meetings and History: May 21, 2022-planning board workshop on areas A, B, C, and D; July 11, 2023- planning 
board public hearing on areas A, B, C, and D (all tabled); August 8, 2023- planning board public hearing on areas A1, A2, 
B1 & B2, C, and D (recommendations on all but area B); September 13, 2023- planning board workshop on area B option 
1 and area B option 2 (recommendation to proceed with option 1); October 10, 2023- public hearing on area B option 1.  

City Manager Comments: 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature: 

Attachments: Draft ordinance with map, recommendation from planning board, area B map, staff report, T-4.2B 
ordinance text.  



City of Auburn, Maine 

Planning & Permitting Department 

Eric Cousens, Director 

60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  

www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

 

To: Auburn City Council 

From: Auburn Planning Board 

Subject: Planning board recommendation to city council on zoning map amendment changing UR and 

LDCR zoning to T-4.2B in Area B. 

Date: 10/16/2023 

This is the report from the Planning Board regarding the attached map amendment pursuant to Section 

60-1496 of the City of Auburn Ordinances.  After notice and Public Hearings held on October 10, 2023, 

the Planning Board forwards this report to the City Council.  

PROPOSAL:  PUBLIC HEARING/ZONING MAP AMENDMENT T-4.2B “AREA B”: Amend 

the official zoning map of the City of Auburn entitled “City of Auburn, Zoning Map, dated May 16, 

2016,” revised through its current date and revisions, as provided under Sec. 60-5 of the Zoning 

Ordinance, to rezone certain land area from the Urban Residence zoning district and the Low-Density 

Country Residence zoning district to the Traditional Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning 

district. This area is generally located near Vickery Road.  This item was initiated by the City Council 

and is pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2 of the Code of Ordinances.  

MOTION: David Trask makes a motion; SECOND: Evan Cyr seconds.  

“I make a motion to forward a favorable recommendation to city council to amend the official zoning 

map of the City of Auburn entitled City of Auburn, Zoning Map, dated May 16, 2016, revised through 

its current date and revisions, as provided under Sec. 60-5 of the Zoning Ordinance, to rezone certain 

land area from the Urban Residence zoning district and the Low-Density Country Residence zoning 

district to the Traditional Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning district as shown on the 

corresponding map and presented in this meeting.” 

  

VOTE: 7-0-0. Motion passes.  



            Current Zoning             Proposed Change

Area B: Option 1

95

136

95

RR

UR

AG

RR

LDCR

MFS

UR

RR

AG

RR

T-4.2B

RR

T-4.2B

Zoning Districts

AG - Agriculture
and Resource
Protection

C/OS -
Conservation /
Open Space

GB - General
Business

GB II - General
Business II

ID - Industrial

LDCR - Low
Density Country
Residential

MFS - Multi-Family
Suburban

RR - Rural
Residential

SR - Suburban
Residential

T-4.1 - Traditional
Mainstreet
Neighborhood

T-4.2 - Traditional
Downtown
Neighborhood

T-4.2B - Traditional
Neighborhood
Development
District

T-5.1 - Downtown
Traditional Center

T-5.2 - Downtown
City Center

T-6 - Great Falls
Metropolitan

UR - Urban
Residential

Parcels

RR

RR

LDCR
AG

MFS AG



City of Auburn, Maine 

Office of Planning & Permitting 
Eric Cousens, Director 

60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  

www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

                                                    

Date: October 10, 2023 

 

To:  Auburn Planning Board 

From: Katherine Cook, Planning Coordinator 

Re:  Staff Report on Map Amendment for Area B in the Vickery Road Area 

 

I. Public Hearing/ Map Amendment “Area B”: Amend the official zoning map of the City of Auburn 

entitled “City of Auburn, Zoning Map, dated May 16, 2016,” revised through its current date and 

revisions, as provided under Sec. 60-5 of the Zoning Ordinance, to rezone certain land area from the 

Urban Residence zoning district and the Low-Density Country Residence zoning district to the 

Traditional Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning district. This area is generally located near 

Vickery Road.  This item is pursuant to Chapter 60, Article XVII, Division 2- Amendment to the Zoning 

Ordinance or Zoning Map. 

 

II. Background: On 

September 13, 2023, the 

planning board reviewed 

two options for the zone 

change boundaries of Area 

B. Staff presented “Option 

1” which applied T-4.2B to 

the Vickery Road 

Neighborhood, and the 

current Low Density 

Country Residential area 

south of Vickery Road 

between South Main Street 

and Riverside Drive, and 

“Option 2,” which extended 

the zoning change further 

down South Main Street to the Turnpike also changing affecting the Rural Residential zone. The 

planning board decided to hold a public hearing the following month on “Area B, Option 1” because it 

aligns more closely to the Comprehensive Plan, which calls for a less dense development pattern than T-

4.2B would produce in areas to the south of Vickery Road. The planning board specified they prefer the 

zone change boundaries follow “Option 2” presented at the September meeting and asked that the staff 

prepare a workshop presenting possible zones that would accomplish the Comprehensive Plan’s 

guidance of approximately 8 units per acre. Staff plans to have that workshop before the Board for the 

November meeting.  

 

Previous Meetings: 

- May 21, 2022—Planning Board Workshop on Area A, B, C, and D 

- July 11, 2023—Planning Board Public Hearing on Area A, B, C and D. All areas were tabled with 

recommendations for staff to bring to the following meeting.  



Page 2 of 2 

 

- August 8, 2023—Planning Board Public Hearing on Area A1, A2, B1 & B2, Area C, and Area D. 

Planning Board made recommendations on all map amendments except Area B. They asked to see the 

different option to connect Area B to Area B1 

- September 13, 2023—Planning Board Workshop on “Area B Option 1” and “Area B Option 2” which 

depicted different boundaries for the potential zone change. Planning Board directed staff to prepare 

Area B Option 1 for a Public Hearing 

 

III.  Department Review: 

- Police - No Comments 

- Auburn Water and Sewer – No Comments 

- Fire Department/Code Enforcement – No Comments 

- Engineering – No Comments 

- Public Services - No Comments 

- Airport – No Comments 

- 911 - No Comments 

 

IV.  Planning Board Action:   Staff recommends that the Board forward a positive recommendation to the 

Council under Sec. 46-374 supporting the proposed changes. 

 

V. Suggested Motion: I make a motion to amend the official zoning map of the City of Auburn entitled 

“City of Auburn, Zoning Map, dated May 16, 2016,” revised through its current date and revisions, as 

provided under Sec. 60-5 of the Zoning Ordinance, to rezone certain land area from the Urban 

Residence zoning district and the Low-Density Country Residence zoning district to the Traditional 

Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning district as shown on the corresponding map and 

presented in the materials for this meeting.  

 

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 1 of 7 

Sec. 60-548B. Traditional Neighborhood T-4.2B. 

Illustrative View of T-4.2B 

 

Intent and Purpose: 
Traditional Neighborhood (T-4.2B) 

The Traditional Neighborhood district is characterized by small to medium sized buildings with smaller front 
yards and stoops in a more compact urban environment, and includes and traditional neighborhood sized 
storefronts. The smaller minimum and maximum building set-backs form a moderately dense street-wall pattern, 
diverse architectural styles and pedestrian friendly streets and sidewalks.  

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:49 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 2 of 7 

 

 

Characteristic Features 

• More public and private realm interaction  

• Front facade detailing  

• Small front yards  

• Bay windows  

• Neighborhood scaled storefronts with large windows  

• Frontage Fences  

• Street Trees  

• Moderate densities  

(Ord. No. 20-09062022, § 2, 9-19-2022) 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 3 of 7 

Sec. 60-548B.1. Building placement and configuration T-4.2B. 

 

Elevated Building Placement 

 

Building Placement on Lot 

PRINCIPAL BUILDING PLACEMENT:    

Front setback, principal:  5 ft. min./25 ft. max.*  (A)  

(Corner lot) front setback, secondary:  5 ft. min./15 ft. max.  (B)  

Side setback:  5 ft. min.  (C)  

Rear setback:  10 ft. min.  (D)  

Building lot coverage:  70% Max.   

Useable open space:  10% Min.   

Frontage build-out:  60% min (along front setback, primary)  

Lot Width:  24 ft. min/120 ft. max.   

PRINCIPAL BUILDING CONFIGURATION:    

Building width:  14 ft. min./110 ft. max.  (E)  

Building height minimum:  1 story min.  (F)  

Building height maximum:  3 story max.  (F) (excluding 
attic story)  

 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 4 of 7 

* Where adjacent buildings exceed the maximum setback, the maximum setback may be calculated by the 
average setback of principal structures on adjacent lots. For undeveloped adjacent lots, a setback of 25 feet shall 
be used for the calculation.  

(Ord. No. 20-09062022, § 2, 9-19-2022) 

Sec. 60-548B.2. Building frontages T-4.2B. 

 

Common or Porch Yard Stoop Yard Frontage Storefront Type 

BUILDING FRONTAGE TYPES: Common yard; porch yard, stoop and storefront.  

BUILDING ENTRIES: Primary entry door is encouraged along ground story 
facade facing a primary street.  

BUILDING ENVELOPE ARTICULATION:  

Ground story building frontage facade:  Residential - Windows and doors shall comprise a 
minimum of 25% and maximum 60% coverage of the 
total ground story frontage facade.  
Commercial - Windows and doors shall comprise a 
minimum of 40% and maximum of 90% coverage of 
the total ground story frontage facade.  

Upper story building frontage facade:  Windows and doors shall comprise a minimum of 20% 
and maximum 40% coverage of the total upper story 
building frontage facade.  

Ground story finished floor elevation:  Residential - The ground story elevation must be a 
minimum of 2 feet minimum and 6 feet maximum 
above the front yard elevation (average grade).  
Commercial - The ground story elevation must be at a 
minimum of sidewalk grade to maximum of 2 feet.  

Frontage facade wall:  Blank lengths of wall exceeding 10 linear feet are 
prohibited.  

 

(Ord. No. 20-09062022, § 2, 9-19-2022) 



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:50 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 5 of 7 

Sec. 60-548B.3. External elements T-4.2B. 

Front yard fence:  Residential - A front yard fence a minimum of 2 feet and a maximum of 4 feet in 
height is encouraged to maintain spatial edge of street. No chain link, vinyl, split 
rail, or barbed wire is allowed .  

Front yard fence/wall 
opening:  

A vehicle entry way, as part of a front fence/wall, shall be a maximum width of 20 
feet; a pedestrian entry way shall be a maximum width of 6 feet.  

Building projections:  No part of any building, except overhanging eaves, awnings, balconies, bay 
windows, stoops and other architectural features shall encroach beyond the 
minimum front setback line.  

Porch & stoop 
encroachments:  

Porches & stoops may encroach upon the minimum front setback line by the 
following distances:  
Front setback, principal frontage 5 ft. maximum.  
Front setback, secondary frontage 5 ft. maximum.  

Garages:  Detached garages shall be located a minimum of 20 feet from any street right-of-
way.  

Driveways:  Driveways are encouraged to be on the secondary street frontage. Driveways shall 
be paved and a minimum of 8 feet wide and a maximum of 20 feet wide.  

Parking:  Residential - Vehicle parking areas shall be located only on driveways or designated 
parking areas and shall not extend into the street right-of-way or sidewalk.  
Commercial - Parking shall be located to rear of the property to the greatest extent 
possible. Parking on a side yard is limited to no more than 60 feet wide or 40% of 
the lot width. Screening and/or street wall is required for parking areas along a 
street.  

Accessory structures:  Accessory structures shall be located a minimum of 20 feet from any street right-
of-way and 5 feet from either side or rear property line.  

Landscaping:  Landscaping is encouraged but shall not extend into any street right-of-way or 
sidewalk. Street trees are encouraged.  

Foundation planting:  Foundation plantings are encouraged but should be pruned and maintained with 
enough clearance from the building facade to encourage air circulation.  

 

(Ord. No. 20-09062022, § 2, 9-19-2022) 

Sec. 60-554. Form based code use and parking matrix. 

Key:  

S =  Special exception  

P =  Permitted  

X =  Prohibited  

sp =  Parking space  

sf =  Square foot of gross floor space  

DU 
=  

Dwelling unit  

 

   



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:54 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 6 of 7 

USE(1) T-
4.1 

T-
4.2B 
(4) 

T-
4.2 

T-
5.1 

T-
5.2 

T-6 PARKING 
REQUIREMENTS(2) 

Residential Use Type 

 Single family  P  P  P  P     1 sp/DU  

Duplex  P  P  P  P  P  P  1 sp/DU  

Townhouse  P  P  P  P  P  P  1 sp/DU  

Multi-family  P  P  P  P  P  P  1 sp/DU plus  
1 guest space/4 DU  

Bed & breakfast < 4 
rooms  

S  S  P  P  P  P  1 sp/employee plus 1 sp/guest  

Bed & breakfast > 4 
rooms  

S  S  S  P  P  P  1 sp/employee plus 1 sp/guest  

Hotel  X  X  X  S  S  P  ½ sp/employee plus 1 sp/room  

Elderly/child care facility  S  S  S  S  S  P  ½ sp/employee plus  
1 sp/8 users  

Home occupation  P  P  P  P  P  P  Based on use type  
(ch. 60, art. IX)  

Community based  
residential facilities  

P  S  P  P  P  P  1 sp/employee plus 1 sp/client  

Boarding house/  
lodginghouse  

P  S  P  P  S  X  1 sp/guestroom plus  
1 sp/employee  

Office/Service 

 Professional offices  S  S  S  P  P  P  None  

Medical and dental 
clinics  

S  S  S  P  P  P  None  

Personal services  S  S    P  P  P  None  

Retail Type Use 

 General retail  S  S  S  P  P  P  None  

Age restricted retail(3)  S  X  S  S  S  S  None  

Specialty shops  S  P  P  P  P  P  None  

Restaurant up to 30 
seats  
w/16 outdoor  

X  S  S  P  P  P  None  

Restaurant over 30 seats  
w/16 outdoor  

  X  S  S  P  P  None  

Halls, private clubs,  
indoor amusement  

S  S  S  S  P  P  None  

Artist studios,  
performing art center  

S  S  S  P  P  P  None  



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-06-21 11:07:54 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 7 of 7 

Civic 

 Church or places of  
worship  

S  S  S  P  P  P  None  

Government offices  X  S  X  P  P  P  None  

Art galleries  S  P  P  P  P  P  None  

Transportation facilities  X  X  X  S  S  S  None  

Adaptive reuse of  
structures of community  
significance  

S  S  S  S  S  S  None  

Public safety services(5)  S  S  S  S  S  S  None  

Government service(5)  S  S  S  S  S  S  None  

Municipal or public 
utilities and 
communication 
facilities(5)  

S  S  S  S  S  S  None  

Municipal services  P  P  P  P  P  P  None  

Detention facility(5)  X  X  X  X  S  X  None  

 

Notes: 

(1) Uses not listed are considered prohibited unless deemed similar by the director of planning or by the 
planning board through a special exception approval.  

(2) * Parking requirements in T-4.1, T-4.2B, T-4.2, T-5.1, T-5.2 and T-6 may be provided by the 
municipality or private parking resources within 500 feet of the principal building, subject to planning 
board approval.  

(3) Where more than 50 percent of floor space is devoted to age restricted goods. This may include 
licensed adult use or medical marijuana stores.  

(4) Office, service and retail uses limited to 1,500 SF footprint and must include a residential unit; no drive 
through businesses allowed.  

(5) All projects shall provide a community impact and needs analysis with review and approval from city 
council or its designee.  

(Ord. No. 04-03072016, 5-16-2016; Ord. No. 05-04032017, § 2, 4-24-2017; Ord. No. 07-05202019, 6-3-2019; Ord. 
No. 29-06212021, 7-19-2021; Ord. No. 20-09062022, § 3, 9-19-2022; Ord. No. 02-02132023, 2-17-2023) 

 



Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Ordinance 

ORDINANCE 23-10162023

IN CITY COUNCIL 

TITLE: Zoning Map Amendment changing UR and LDCR zoning to T-4.2B in Area B. 

Be it ordained, That the Auburn City Council Amend the official zoning map of the City of 

Auburn entitled “City of Auburn, Zoning Map, dated May 16, 2016,” revised through its current 

date and revisions, as provided under Sec. 60-5 of the Zoning Ordinance, to rezone certain land 

area from the Urban Residence zoning district and the Low-Density Country Residence zoning 

district to the Traditional Neighborhood Form Based Code T-4.2B zoning district as shown on 

the attached map labeled Area B: Option 1.  



 

 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Meeting Date: November 6, 2023    Public Hearing 
 
Author: John Blais  
 

Subject: Public Hearing, discontinuance of 90.94+/- Miller Street as a city street per § 3026-A 
 
Information: Step two, in a three- step process once a recommendation is made by the Planning Board. 1. ) File order of 
discontinuance for notification of abutters. (9.19.23) 2. Public Hearing, notification to abutters (11. 6. 23). 3.Approval of 
order minimum 10 days after the public hearing (11.21.23).  
 
Today the City Council should hold a public hearing on the discontinuance of Miller Street.  

A. The Location of the town way or public easement is attached.   
B. Notification of abutting property owners is complete via Certified Mail. 

 
City Budgetary Impacts:  None known. 
 
Staff Recommended Action: Hold public hearing, no vote required. Continued from last month due to address 
correction. 
 
Previous Meetings and History: PB workshop August 10, 2023, PB Public Hearing September 12, 2023 City Council 
Workshop August 7, 2023, City Councilor Order and 1st vote September 19, 2023, October 16, 2023.   
 
City Manager Comments:  
 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:    
 

Attachments: Order of Discontinuance (attested copy by City Clerk)  



WV

S
D

S
D

S
D

SD
SD

S
D

S
D

S
D

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
S

S
S

E

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S S

S

S
S

S
S

WV

WV
WV

WV

N/F
TURSON LLC
178 MAIN ST

7852/290
MAP 231 LOT 019

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

O
HU

O
HU

S
D

S
D

SD

SD

G
G

G
G

G

G
G

G

G

D

D

G
G

G
G

G

S

S

G
G G G

G G
G G G G

S
S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

N 09°30'39" E

88.92'

S
 86°26'57" E

67.37'

99.54'

S 05°10'28" W

75.08'

N
 86°26'57" W

L8 L9

MILLER STREET

M
IL

LE
R

 A
LL

EY

MAIN STREET

N/F
CITY OF AUBURN

74 MILLER ST
1593/49

MAP 231 LOT 017

AUBURN RIVER WALK

8.75' 30.72'

N 5°10'28" E 90.94'

N 5°10'28" E
43.42'

AREA TO BE CONVEYED TO JCS 18, LLC 3,127 SF WITH
RIGHTS OF USE, ACCESS, AND UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED SEWER
EASEMENT 2,124 S.F.

(N 22°43'28" W)
(9.48')

(TIE LINE)

S 36°17'25" W18.38'

S 67°24'21" W
25.65'

EL3

PROPOSED
RELOCATION OF
MILLER STREET

4,827 S.F.

186 MAIN ST

MULTI-STORY
BRICK COMMERCIAL

STRUCTURE

REBAR WITH
CAP 1278

RAILROAD SPIKE

REBAR WITH
CAP 1278

1/2" IRON IN
CONC. WALK

PROPOSED TEMPORARY
CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

17,075 S.F.

S 46
°0

8'0
3"

 E
 42

.28
'

S 5°10'28" W
107.64'

S 67°24'21" W
27.13'

S 20°28'47" E15.03'

S 58°49'33" W
25.91'

S 86°04'54" W
50.72'

N 6°21'32" W

62.94'

N 3°20'50" E

125.34'

EL2

PROPERTY LINE TABLE
LINE

EL1

EL2

EL3

DIRECTION

N 31°35'33" E

N 38°59'07" E

S 31°35'33" W

DISTANCE

20.23'

10.54'

1.82'

S 46
°0

8'0
3"

 E

33
.94

'

N 66°38'45" E

29.93'

N 63°41'54" E

30.62'

S
 86°03'15" E

29.27'

38.50'

42.28'

11.69' 9.11'

19
.22

'

N 3°00'14" E

117.11'
EL1

S 3°00'14" W 116.97'

N
 86°26'57" W

15.00'

AREA TO BE CONVEYED TO TURSON, LLC
WITH RIGHTS OF USE , ACCESS AND UTILITY
EASEMENT 657 S.F.

S 5°10'28" W
18.42'

113.72'

3.26'

16.32'
N

 73°04'09" E 35.62'

LAND TO BE CONVEYED TO JCS 18, LLC

N/F
WILLIAM & HALSEY

McDONOUGH
214 MAIN ST

2261/145
MAP 231 LOT 021

N/F
TURSON LLC
178 MAIN ST

7852/290
MAP 231 LOT 019

P
A

U
L 

D
. O

S
TR

O
W

S
K

I, 
P

E
 1

11
75

DESIGNED

SHEET OF

TH
IS

 P
LA

N
 S

H
A

LL
 N

O
T 

B
E

 M
O

D
IF

IE
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T 

W
R

IT
TE

N
 P

E
R

M
IS

S
IO

N
 F

R
O

M
 S

E
B

A
G

O
 T

E
C

H
N

IC
S

, I
N

C
.  

A
N

Y
 A

LT
E

R
A

TI
O

N
S

,
A

U
TH

O
R

IZ
E

D
 O

R
 O

TH
E

R
W

IS
E

, S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 A
T 

TH
E

 U
S

E
R

'S
 S

O
LE

 R
IS

K
 A

N
D

 W
IT

H
O

U
T 

LI
A

B
IL

IT
Y

 T
O

 S
E

B
A

G
O

 T
E

C
H

N
IC

S
. I

N
C

.

R
E

V
:

B
Y

:
D

A
TE

:
S

TA
TU

S
:

75
 J

oh
n 

R
ob

er
ts

 R
d.

S
ui

te
 4

A
S

ou
th

 P
or

tla
nd

, M
E

 0
41

06
Te

l. 
20

7-
20

0-
21

00

W
W

W
.S

E
B

A
G

O
TE

C
H

N
IC

S
.C

O
M

CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE

PROJECT

22
05

03
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
P

LA
N

.d
w

g,
 T

A
B

:6
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
P

LA
N

FO
R

:

O
F:

C
IT

Y
 O

F 
A

U
B

U
R

N
60

 C
O

U
R

T 
S

TR
E

E
T

A
U

B
U

R
N

, M
E

 0
42

10

R
E

C
O

R
D

 O
W

N
E

R
:

05/05/2023

F:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

22
00

0\
22

05
03

\D
W

G
\D

es
ig

n\
22

05
03

 E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T 

P
LA

N
.d

w
g 

- 7
/2

8/
20

23
 3

:3
2 

P
M

 - 
TA

N
N

E
R

 F
. G

O
O

D
IN

E

07
/2

8/
20

23

B
A

C
H

01
/2

7/
20

23
R

E
V

IS
E

D
 P

E
R

 C
LI

E
N

T 
A

N
D

 C
IT

Y
 O

F 
A

U
B

U
R

N
 C

O
M

M
E

N
TS

TFG

ABB

PDO

C
P

D
O

05
/0

5/
20

23
IS

S
U

E
D

 T
O

 C
IT

Y
 O

F 
A

U
B

U
R

N
 F

O
R

 S
IT

E
 P

LA
N

 S
U

B
M

IS
S

IO
N

D
P

D
O

05
/1

8/
20

23
R

E
V

IS
E

D
 &

 R
E

S
U

B
M

IT
TE

D
 P

E
R

 C
IT

Y
 O

F 
A

U
B

U
R

N
 C

O
M

M
E

N
TS

E
P

D
O

05
/2

2/
20

23
R

E
V

IS
E

D
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
P

LA
N

F
P

D
O

06
/0

2/
20

23
R

E
V

IS
E

D
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
P

LA
N

G
P

D
O

06
/0

5/
20

23
IS

S
U

E
D

 F
O

R
 F

LO
O

D
 H

A
ZA

R
D

 D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T 

&
 N

R
P

A
 P

B
R

H
P

D
O

07
/2

8/
20

23
R

E
V

IS
E

D
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T 
P

LA
N

103

1" = 10'

220503-01

A
U

B
U

R
N

, M
A

IN
E

 0
42

10
18

6 
M

A
IN

 S
TR

E
E

T
18

6 
M

A
IN

 S
TR

E
E

T

G
O

R
H

A
M

, M
A

IN
E

 0
40

38
20

 M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
 S

TR
E

E
T

JC
S

 1
8,

 L
LC

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T 

P
LA

N

(IN FEET)
1 INCH =       FT.

0
GRAPHIC SCALE

201010 5

10

N

 





City of Auburn, Maine 

Office of Planning & Permitting 
Eric Cousens, Director 
60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 
04210  www.auburnmaine.gov  |   
207.333.6601 

   
 

October 18, 2023 

RE: Notice of City Council Public Hearing – November 6, 2023  

William McDonough 
61 Winter Street (mailing address) 
Gardiner, Maine 04345 
PID: 231-021 

Dear Mr. McDonough:  

You are receiving this notice pursuant to Title 23 M.R.S.A § 3026-A, 1-6 because the 
City of Auburn, City Council will conduct a Public Hearing on Monday, November 6, 
2023, at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers, 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine to hear 
public comment on the following item located abutting property you own: 

PUBLIC HEARING/ Miller Street Relocation: 186 Main Street: See attached attested 
order dated September 25, 2023, and site plan.  

In addition, a waiver of damages form is included for your convenience. Please sign and 
send back to the address found on the waiver: 

Additional information is available and may be obtained from the Auburn Planning & 
Permitting Department by contacting John Blais at (207) 333-6601 ext. 1334 or 
jblais@auburnmaine.gov. 

 

Regards, 

 

John Blais 
Deputy Director of Planning, Permitting and Code 

mailto:jblais@auburnmaine.gov.


City of Auburn, Maine 

Office of Planning & Permitting 
Eric Cousens, Director 
60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 
04210  www.auburnmaine.gov  |   
207.333.6601 

   
 

October 18, 2023 

RE: Notice of City Council Public Hearing – November 6, 2023  

William T. Turner       
368 Minot Avenue 
Auburn, Maine 04210     
PID: 231-019  

Dear Mr. Turner:  

You are receiving this notice pursuant to Title 23 M.R.S.A § 3026-A, 1-6 because the 
City of Auburn, City Council will conduct a Public Hearing on Monday, November 6, 
2023, at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers, 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine to hear 
public comment on the following item located abutting property you own: 

PUBLIC HEARING/ Miller Street Relocation: 186 Main Street: See attached attested 
order dated September 25, 2023, and site plan.  

The development includes new parking and has been proposed as six (6) additional 
public parking spaces will be available at 2-hour increments and will be available at will 
to tenants between 6 PM to 7:00 AM.  In addition, to replace the seven (7) R permit 
location paid for by the abutter the city will offer replacement spots within the city garage 
at the same rate of $45 a month ($945 quarterly).  

In addition, a waiver of damages form is included for your convenience. Please sign and 
send back to the address found on the waiver:  

Additional information is available and may be obtained from the Auburn Planning & 
Permitting Department by contacting John Blais at (207) 333-6601 ext. 1334 or 
jblais@auburnmaine.gov. 

 

Regards, 

 

John Blais 
Deputy Director of Planning, Permitting and Code 

mailto:jblais@auburnmaine.gov.


 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 
Joseph Morin, Ward Four 
Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 
Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 
Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 
Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER  

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDERED, that Miller Street, as laid out on plan and titled “Easement Plan”, as recommended by the 
Auburn Planning Board and approved by the Auburn City Council and to be recorded at the 
Androscoggin County Registry of Deeds , is hereby discontinued 90.94’ +/- as a City Street as provided 
in Title 23 M.R.S.A § 3026-A, 1-6 et sequ: 

LOCATION:  
Exhibit A 

Proposed Street Relocation 
Miller Street 

 
A certain lot or parcel of land with the improvements thereon on the easterly sideline of the current 
location of Miller Street in the City of Auburn, County of Androscoggin, and State of Maine depicted as 
“Proposed Relocation of Miller Street 4,827 S.F.” as shown on an Easement Plan made for JCS 18, LLC 
by Sebago Technics dated May 5, 2023 as revised through July 28, 2023 (Sheet 3, Job #220503-01), and 
being more particularly bounded and described as follows: 

Commencing at a railroad spike in pavement on the now or former westerly sideline of Miller Street at 
the northeasterly corner of land now or formerly of City of Auburn as described in a deed recorded in 
Book 3233, Page 1 and southeasterly corner of land now or formerly of Turson, LLC as described in a 
deed recorded in said Registry in Book 7852, Page 290, thence N 73°04’09” E across said Miller Steet a 
distance of 35.62 feet to the northeasterly corner of “Proposed Discontinuation of Miller Street 3,784 
S.F.” as shown on said Plan, and the now or former easterly sideline of said Miller Street, and the Point of 
Beginning; 

1. Thence N 05°10’28” E by said easterly sideline of said Miller Street a distance of 42.28 feet; 

2. Thence S 46°08’03” E through land of the Grantor a distance of 33.94 feet; 

3. Thence S 20°28’47” E through said land of the Grantor a distance of 15.03 feet; 

4. Thence S 05°10’28” W through said land of the Grantor a distance of 107.64 feet; 

5. Thence S 36°17’25” W through said land of the Grantor a distance of 18.38 feet; 

6. Thence S 67°24’21” W through said land of the Grantor a distance of 25.65 feet; 

7. Thence S 31°35’33” W through said land of the Grantor a distance of 1.82 feet to the easterly 
sideline of said Miller Street; 

8. Thence N 05°10’28” E by the now or former easterly sideline of said Miller Street a distance of 
38.50 feet to the easterly side of said Proposed Discontinuation of Miller Street; 

9. Thence N 05°10’28” E by said Proposed Discontinuation of Miller Street a distance of 90.94 feet 
to the Point of Beginning. 



Meaning and intending to describe the area depicted as “Proposed Relocation of Miller Street 4,827 S.F.” 
as shown on an Easement Plan made for JCS 18, LLC by Sebago Technics dated May 5, 2023 as revised 
through May 18, 2023 (Sheet 3, Job #220503-01).  

Subject to a proposed Temporary Construction Easement as shown on said plan. 

Subject to and Together with any easements or restrictions of record. 

Bearings are referenced to Grid North, Maine State Plane Coordinate System, West Zone, NAD83. 

July 28, 2023 
JMS/mwe 
 

ABUTTERS:  

William T. Turner    William McDonough 
178 Main Street (physical address)  214 Main Street (physical address) 
368 Minot Avenue (mailing address)  61 Winter Street (mailing address) 
Auburn, Maine  04210    Auburn, Maine 04210 
PID: 231-019     PID: 231-021 
 
DAMAGES: 
Amount of Damages: $0 The discontinuance does not affect any property owner in any way as access is 
not effected to the property. 
 
PUBLIC EASEMENT: All rights for public and private utilities are retained per § 3026-A, (6) 
 
 
______In-favor__________ _In-Favor__________  _In-Favor________ 
Richard Whiting   Ryan Hawes   Stephen G. Milks 
 
______In-Favor_________ _In-Favor__________  __In-Favor________ 
Joseph Morin    Leroy G. Walker  Dana Staples 
 
 
______In-Favor____  
Belinda A. Gerry   
 
Motion carries 7-0 on September 18, 2023 
 
Vote Attested by City Clerk:  
 



 

 

 
 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

Council Meeting Date: November 6th, 2023   Order: 143-11062023 
 
Author: John Blais  
 

Subject: Second Reading, discontinuance of 250+/- Chestnut Street as a city street per § 3026-A, (2) A, B, B-1, C and D 
 
Information: Third step, in a three-step process once a recommendation is made by the Planning Board. 1. ) File order of 
discontinuance for notification of abutters. (9.19.23) 2. Public Hearing, notification to abutters (10. 2. 23). 3.) Approval 
of order minimum 10 days after the public hearing (11.4.23).  
 
Today the City Council meets to hold Second reading, discontinuance of 250+/- Chestnut Street as a city street per § 
3026-A, (2) A, B, B-1, C and D. Once approved, the order of Discontinuance  
is recorded in the Androscoggin County Registry of Deeds.  
 
City Budgetary Impacts:  None known. 
 
Staff Recommended Action: Hold second reading, and staff to record the Exhibit B in Androscoggin County Registry of 
Deeds and City Council Order attested by City Clerk.  
 
Previous Meetings and History: PB workshop August 10, 2023, PB Public Hearing September 12, 2023 City Council 
Workshop August 7, 2023, Public Hearing October 16th.  
 
City Manager Comments:  
 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:    
 

Attachments: Order of Discontinuance   









 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 143-11062023 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDERED, that Chestnut Street, as laid out on plan and titled “Conveyances & Partial Discontinuance 

of Chestnut Street”, as recommended by the Auburn Planning Board and approved by the Auburn City 

Council and to be recorded at the Androscoggin County Registry of Deeds , is hereby discontinued 250’ 

+/- as a City Street as provided in Title 23 M.R.S.A § 3026-A, 1-6 et sequ: 

LOCATION: 

Exhibit B 

0.23 Acre (9,996 sq. ft.) Discontinuance of a Portion of Chestnut Street 

City of Auburn, County of Androscoggin, State of Maine 

September 1, 2023 

 

A portion of land of Chestnut Street, so-called, between Winter Street, so-called, and Webster Street, so-

called, in the City of Auburn, County of Androscoggin, and State of Maine, being more particularly 

bounded and described as follows, to wit: 

 

Beginning at a point on the northwesterly side of Chestnut Street at the southwesterly corner of land now 

or formerly of John R & Barbara J. Landry (Book 6864, Page 210), said point being in a general 

southwesterly direction, along the northwesterly side of Chestnut Street, a distance of 90 feet, more or 

less, from the westerly side of Winter Street; 

 

Thence, from the Point of Beginning, South 40° 33’ 36” East, crossing said Chestnut Street, a distance of 

40.19 feet to a point on the southeasterly side of Chestnut Street and the northwesterly side of land now or 

formerly of the City of Auburn (Book 1168, Page 229); 

 

Thence, South 43° 48’ 18” West, along the said southeasterly side of Chestnut Street, said land now or 

formerly of the City of Auburn, and land now or formerly of Sultan Corp (Book 5488, Page 202), a 

distance of 248.75 feet to a point; 

 

Thence, North 43° 50’ 03” West, crossing said Chestnut Street, a distance of 40.03 feet to a point on the 

said northwesterly side of Chestnut Street at the southeasterly corner of land now or formerly of Hero 

Homes, LLC (Book 9614, Page 308), said point being in a general northeasterly direction, along the 

northwesterly side of Chestnut Street, a distance of 209 feet, more or less, from the easterly side of 

Webster Street; 

 

Thence, North 43° 48’ 18” East, along the said northwesterly side of Chestnut Street and land now or 

formerly of the City of Auburn (Book 1168, Page 229), a distance of 251.05 feet to the Point of 

Beginning. 

 

The above-described parcel of land contains 0.23 acres, more or less (9,996 sq. ft, more or less). 

 



All bearings are referenced to Maine State Grid, West Zone, NAD and based on a plan entitled, “Plan 

showing Conveyances & Partial Discontinuance of Chestnut Street”, made for the City of Auburn, dated 

August 31, 2023, surveyed by Main-Land Development Consultants, Inc. 

 

All Book and Pages refer to the Androscoggin County Registry of Deeds. 

 

Meaning and intending to describe a portion, and only a portion, of Chestnut Street to be discontinued by 

the City of Auburn. All rights for public and private utilities are retained per § 3026-A, (6) 

 

ABUTTERS:  

John & Barbara Landry  Sultan Corp   Hero Homes LLC  

28 Winter Street  PO Box 7065   19 Fae Lane  

Auburn, Maine 04210  Lewiston, Maine 04242  Gorham, Maine 04038 

PID 250-279   PID 250-335    PID 250-333 

 

DAMAGES: 

Amount of Damages: $0 The discontinuance does not affect any property owner in any way as access is 

not effected to the property. 

 

PUBLIC EASEMENT: All rights for public and private utilities are retained per § 3026-A, (6) 

 

Attested:  



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 
 

Council Workshop or Meeting Date: November 6, 2023                         Order: 144-11062023   
 

Author:  Glen E. Holmes, Director of Business & Community Development 
 

Subject:  Downtown Omnibus TIF #10 - Fourth Amendment   
 
Information:    
The fourth amendment to the Downtown Omnibus TIF #10 will remove ten parcels totaling 16.32 acres & $4,498,500 
in value from the district. The Downtown TIF, created in 2002, has less than 10 years remaining before expiration.  Key 
parcels currently targeted for development are being removed to allow for new, longer-term districts to be created 
to a greater benefit of the city.  
 
City Budgetary Impacts:   
The City intends to establish new Tax Increment Financing Districts for one or more of these parcels following 
adoption of the Fourth Amendment to the District for the purpose of capturing tax revenues from new assessed 
value generated by investments made on these properties. 
 
Staff Recommended Action:   
Approval of Order as presented. 
 
Previous Meetings and History: 
July 15, 2002 – Council approved Downtown TIF 
December 2, 2013 – Council amended TIF to add 214 parcels 
September 12, 2016 – Council amended TIF to remove 1 parcel 
November 20, 2017 – Council amended TIF to remove 1 parcel 
 
 
City Manager Comments:  
 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:   
 
Attachments:  
TIF#10 Fourth Amendment  



Adopted by Order of the City Council November 6, 2023 

CITY OF AUBURN 
Fourth Amendment to #10 Downtown Omnibus 

Municipal Tax Increment Financing District and 

Development Program 

 

  



 1 

FOURTH AMENDMENT 

City of Auburn #10 Downtown  

Omnibus Municipal Tax Increment Financing District and Development Program 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 
I. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

Section 1.01: History of Original Development Program. ................................................................... 2 

Section 1.02: Amendment of District and Development Program. ..................................................... 3 

II.  Amended Development Program ..................................................................................................... 3 

Section 2.01:  District Footprint and Acreage. ...................................................................................... 3 

Section 2.02: Tax Revenue Projections. ................................................................................................. 4 

Section 2.03: Public Project Costs. ......................................................................................................... 4 

Section 2.04: No Other Changes. ............................................................................................................ 4 

Section 2.05: Notice of Public Hearing and Approval of Amendment. .............................................. 5 

EXHIBIT A: Statutory Requirements & Thresholds Form ................................................................ 6 

EXHIBIT B: Certificate of Assessor ...................................................................................................... 9 

EXHIBIT C: Maps of District as Amended ........................................................................................ 10 

EXHIBIT D: Tax Increment Revenue Projections ............................................................................. 11 

EXHIBIT E: Public Project Costs ....................................................................................................... 12 

EXHIBIT F: Public Hearing Notice ..................................................................................................... 15 

EXHIBIT G: Public Hearing Minutes ................................................................................................. 16 

EXHIBIT H: Orders of City Council................................................................................................... 17 

 

  



 2 

FOURTH AMENDMENT 

City of Auburn #10 Downtown  

Omnibus Municipal Tax Increment Financing District and Development Program 

 

I. Introduction 

 

                Section 1.01: History of Original Development Program.  

 

The City of Auburn designated the #10 Downtown Municipal Development Tax Increment 

Financing District (the “District”) and approved a municipal tax increment financing district 

development program for said District (the “Development Program”) by order of its City Council 

on July 15, 2002.  The District and Development Program were approved by the Maine Department 

of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) in 2002 and confirmed by letter dated June 

15, 2012.  The Development Program adopted in 2002 stated that the District would be effective 

for a period of twenty (20) years; however, the 2012 DECD approval letter stated that the District 

is effective for a term of thirty (30) years through October 18, 2032.  The District was designated 

to capture 100% of tax revenue from increased assessed value for property acquisition to construct 

a parking garage, walkway lighting and improvements, intersection improvements, recreational 

trail extension, and projects as identified within the Auburn Downtown Action Plan for Tomorrow 

(“ADAPT”).  The District consisted of 211 acres located in a concentrated area between Minot Ave 

(Route 100/202) and the Androscoggin River at a central point in the City along its eastern border.  

 

The City adopted the First Amendment to the District and Development Program by order 

of its City Council on December 2, 2013, and DECD approved the amendment by letter dated July 

23, 2014 (the “First Amendment”).  With the First Amendment, the City added 214 parcels to the 

District consisting of 54.67 acres, resulting in a total District acreage of 265.67. The First 

Amendment authorized the City to enter into credit enhancement agreements with developers in 

the District to offer a reimbursement of property taxes paid on increased assessed value up to 100%, 

subject to the joint Tax Increment Financing Policy adopted by the Cities of Auburn and Lewiston. 

The First Amendment also authorized the City to spend retained property tax revenue from captured 

assessed value on several additional public improvements and projects within the District, as well 

as transportation projects, trails and economic development initiatives within the City.  

 

 The City adopted the Second Amendment to the District and Development Program by 

orders of its City Council on September 12, 2016 (the “Second Amendment”).  The Second 

Amendment removed one parcel (Tax Map 240, Lot 257) consisting of 0.81 acres from the District, 

resulting in a total District acreage of 264.86.  The City adopted the Third Amendment to the 

District and Development Program by orders of its City Council on November 20, 2017 (the “Third 

Amendment”).  The Third Amendment removed one parcel (Tax Map 240, Lot 212) consisting of 

1.01 acres from the District, resulting in a total District acreage of 263.85. The Second Amendment 

and Third Amendment were approved by DECD per letter dated March 6, 2018.1 The DECD 

                                                           
1 The total District acreage cited in the March 6, 2018 DECD approval letter was 264.18 and the Original Assessed 

Value was $83,168,800. This was corrected as a result of inaccurate information provided with the First Amendment. 

This Fourth Amendment is based on the Original Assessed Value and Acreage as confirmed in the 2018 approval 

letter from DECD.  



 3 

approval letter stated that the District is effective for a term of thirty (30) years ending June 30, 

2032. All other terms of the Development Program remained the same as the First Amendment.  

  

The City hopes to continue the efforts that are currently supported by the District and 

Development Program, as amended, and to enhance and broaden the economic development and 

employment opportunities within the community through the use of tax increment revenues from 

the District as necessary and appropriate through the amendment of this District. Development 

efforts within the District continue and the City seeks to adopt this Fourth Amendment to the 

District and Development Program in order to maximize the benefits of Tax Increment Financing 

for certain properties and projects within the City. This Fourth Amendment will remove certain 

properties from the District and create new Districts dedicated to those projects to provide 

assistance to the developers of said projects. These properties have been identified for commercial 

uses that are expected to create new employment opportunities within the City, which will benefit 

residents and business owners alike and maintain and broaden the tax base within the City.   

 

Section 1.02: Amendment of District and Development Program.  

 

The City now desires to amend the District and Development Program to advance the 

original economic development goals of the Development Program and the City to provide new 

employment opportunities within the City and to continue improving and broadening the City’s tax 

base and the general economy of the City and the State of Maine.  

 

Accordingly, the District and Development Program are hereby amended for the following 

purposes: 

 

(a)   to remove ten parcels from the District, consisting of 16.32 acres, including a 

certification of the Original Assessed Value resulting from the removal of these parcels; 

 

(b) to include the additional estimated tax increment revenues to be captured during the 

term of the District and additional authorized project costs.  

 

 

II.  Amended Development Program 

 

Section 2.01:  District Footprint and Acreage.  
   

 The District is hereby amended to remove the following parcels: 

 

Tax Map/Lot Property Address Acreage 
Original 

Assessed Value 
OAV Date 

CURRENT DISTRICT TOTAL 264.18 $83,168,800  

221-041 121 Mill Street 4.58 $933,000 March 31, 2013 

230-066 81 Minot Ave 1.02 $187,500 March 31, 2013 

230-132 15 Academy Street 1.11 $60,300 March 31, 2002 



4

231-020 186 Main Street 0.16 $0 (exempt) March 31, 2002 
241-025 Mechanics Row 

(131 Main Street) 
0.74 $0 (exempt) March 31, 2002 

240-271 67 Minot Ave 2.36 $1,640,600 March 31, 2013 
240-272 1 Minot Ave 1.20 $0 March 31, 2013 
251-019 3 Center Street 

(Turner Street) 
4.07 $50,000 March 31, 2002 

251-021 1 Center Street 0.93 $189,300 March 31, 2002 
251-022 197 Turner Street 0.46 $105,200 March 31, 2002 

TOTAL REMOVED PARCELS2 16.63 $3,165,900 

AMENDED DISTRICT TOTAL 247.55 $80,002,900 

An updated Statutory Requirements and Thresholds Form is included herewith as Exhibit 
A. A Certificate of Assessor is included herewith as Exhibit B and a revised maps of the District 
as amended are included herewith as Exhibit C.  

Section 2.02: Tax Revenue Projections.  

The removal of the ten parcels as identified in Section 2.01 above is not expected to result 
in a substantial decrease in the captured assessed value within the District and will therefore not 
significantly affect the tax increment revenue projections and tax shift calculations within the 
District for the remainder of the District term.  However, updated tax revenue projections, including 
actual captured assessed value, tax increment revenue and credit enhancement agreement payments 
to date, are included herewith as Exhibit D for reference.   

Section 2.03: Public Project Costs.  

In addition to the public activities and project costs authorized within the Development 
Program to date, as previously amended, the City seeks to authorize additional uses of TIF revenue 
from the District.  Included herewith as Exhibit E is an amended and restated table of authorized 
public project costs.  

Section 2.04: No Other Changes.  

Except as expressly amended by this Fourth Amendment, the District Development 
Program, as previously amended, shall not be altered and is hereby ratified and confirmed in all 
respects.  

2 The acreages included in this table are based on actual 2024 parcel data in the City’s assessing records, which may 
vary from earlier Development Program materials; however, the City does not have a complete record of the 
acreages listed for each amendment to date and is unable to verify what acreage amounts were originally listed for 
each of these parcels. 



 5 

 

Section 2.05: Notice of Public Hearing and Approval of Amendment.  

 

A copy of the Notice of Public Hearing published in the Lewiston Sun Journal, a newspaper 

of general circulation in the City of Auburn on October 19, 2023 is attached hereto as Exhibit F.  

A public hearing pursuant to such Notice was held on November 6, 2023.  The minutes of the 

public hearing are attached hereto as Exhibit G and the Orders of the City Council approving this 

Amendment are attached hereto as Exhibit H.  

  



6

EXHIBIT A: Statutory Requirements & Thresholds Form 

SECTION A. | Acreage Caps

1. Total municipal acreage; 41,430.00

2. Acreage of proposed Municipal TIF District; 247.55

3. Downtown-designation3 acres in proposed Municipal TIF District; 247.55

4. Transit-Oriented Development4 acres in proposed Municipal TIF District; 0

5. Total acreage [=A2-A3-A4] of proposed Municipal TIF District counted toward 2% 
limit;

247.55

6. Percentage [=A5÷A1] of total acreage in proposed Municipal TIF District (CANNOT 
EXCEED 2%).

0.60%

7. Total acreage of all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts in municipality including 
Municipal Affordable Housing Development districts:5

See attached list

Existing 678.19 

Proposed -16.63 

Total: 661.56 

30-A § 5223(3) EXEMPTIONS6

8. Acreage of an existing/proposed Downtown Municipal TIF district; 247.55

9. Acreage of all existing/proposed Transit-Oriented Development Municipal TIF 
districts: 0 

10. Acreage of all existing/proposed Community Wind Power Municipal TIF districts: 0 

11. Acreage in all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts common to7 Pine Tree 
Development Zones per 30-A § 5250-I (14)(A) excluding any such acreage also 
factored in Exemptions 8-10 above 0 

12. Total acreage [=A7-A8-A9-A10-A11] of all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts 
counted toward 5% limit; 

414.01 

13. Percentage of total acreage [=A12÷A1] of all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts 
(CANNOT EXCEED 5%). 

1.00% 

14. Real property in proposed Municipal TIF District that is: ACRE S % [=Acres÷A2]

a.A blighted area; 

b.In need of rehabilitation, redevelopment or conservation;

c.Suitable for commercial or arts district uses. 247.55 100%

TOTAL (except for § 5223 (3) exemptions a., b. OR c. must be at least 25%)

3 Before final designation, the Commissioner will seek advice from MDOACF and MDOT per 30-A § 5226(2).  
4 For Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) definitions see 30-A § 5222 sub-§§ 19-24. 
5 For AH-TIF acreage requirement see 30-A § 5247(3)(B). Alternatively, Section B. must exclude AH-TIF valuation.
6 Downtown/TOD overlap nets single acreage/valuation caps exemption. 
7 PTDZ districts approved through December 31, 2008.



 7 

SECTION B.  | Valuation Cap  

1. Total TAXABLE municipal valuation—April 1, 2023 $2,253,171,176 

2. Taxable Original Assessed Value (OAV) of proposed Municipal TIF District as of 
March 31, 2002 and March 31, 2013 $80,002,900 

3. Taxable OAV of all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts in municipality 
excluding Municipal Affordable Housing Development districts:  

See attached list 

Existing $108,311,200 

Proposed -$3,165,900 

Total: $105,145,300 

30-A § 5223(3) EXEMPTIONS  

4. Taxable OAV of an existing/proposed Downtown Municipal TIF district; $80,002,900 

5. Taxable OAV of all existing/proposed Transit-Oriented Development Municipal 
TIF districts: 0 

6. Taxable OAV of all existing/proposed Community Wind Power Municipal TIF 
districts: 

 

0 

7. Taxable OAV of all existing/proposed Single Taxpayer/High Valuation8 
Municipal TIF districts: 0 

8. Taxable OAV in all existing/proposed Municipal TIF districts common to Pine 
Tree Development Zones per 30-A § 5250-I (14)(A) excluding any such OAV also 
factored in Exemptions 4-7 above: 0 

9. Total taxable OAV [=B3-B4-B5-B6-B7-B8] of all existing/proposed Municipal TIF 
districts counted toward 5% limit; 

$25,142,400 

10. Percentage of total taxable OAV [=B9÷B1] of all existing/proposed Municipal 
TIF districts (CANNOT EXCEED 5%). 

1.12% 

  

C O M P L E T E D  B Y  

P R I N T  N A M E  Alyssa Tibbetts 

S I G N A T U R E   D A T E   

If this form has not be completed by the municipal or plantation assessor, the 
assessor must sign and date below, acknowledging he/she agrees with the 
information reported on this form, and understands the OAV stated in Section B, line 
2, will be used to determine the IAV for this District.  

P R I N T  N A M E  Karen Scammon 

S I G N A T U R E   D A T E   

 

  

                                                           
8 For this exemption see 30-A §5223(3)(C) sub-§§ 1-4. 



 8 

Existing Active TIF Districts 

 

District 
Number District Name OAV Acreage 

6 Proctor & Gamble (Tambrands II)  $          520,900.00  84 

10 Downtown Omnibus  $    83,168,800.00  264.18 

12 Auburn Industrial Park  $          334,200.00  144 

13 Retail Development  $       5,425,400.00  29.67 

14 Mall Revitalization  $    11,328,400.00  38.91 

15 Mall Area Hotel  $               4,900.00  1.5 

16 Webster School (affordable housing)  $                            -    1.4 

19 Hartt Transportation Center  $       1,278,600.00  43 

20 62 Spring Street  $          474,300.00  0.81 

21 477 Minot Avenue (affordable housing)  $                            -    3.83 

22 Hampshire Street (affordable housing)  $                            -    1.01 

23 Memory Care  $          327,100.00  8.61 

24 Gracelawn  $          262,600.00  2.92 

25 FutureGuard  $       3,838,700.00  26.2 

26 North River Road Apartments  $             60,300.00  3.32 

27 Stable Ridge  $          235,500.00  13.19 

28 Agren Appliance Warehouse  $       1,051,500.00  11.64 

  TOTAL  $  108,311,200.00  678.19 

 

  



9

EXHIBIT B: Certificate of Assessor

CITY OF AUBURN 
CERTIFICATE OF ASSESSOR

The undersigned assessor of the City of Auburn, Maine, does hereby certify pursuant to the 
provisions of Title 30-A M.R.S.A. Section 5227 that the assessed value of the taxable real property 
within the boundaries of the #10 Auburn Downtown Municipal Tax Increment Financing District, 
as described in the Development Program for the District and as identified in the attached table, was 
$80,002,900 as of March 31, 2002 (April 1, 2001) and March 31, 2013 (April 1, 2012) respectively.9

This Certificate has been executed as of this ____ day of October, 2023. 

______________________________ 
 Karen Scammon, CMA-4 
Assessor, City of Auburn 

9 The Original Assessed Value of the District was certified as $52,364,600 as of March 31, 2002 (April 1, 2001).  
With the First Amendment to the District adopted December 2, 2013, the Original Assessed Value of the District was 
$84,411,000 resulting from the addition of 214 parcels with a taxable real property value of $32,046,400 as of March 
31, 2013 (April 1, 2012).  These values were subsequently reviewed and corrected as reflected in the March 6, 2018 
letter from DECD approving the Town’s Second Amendment to the District. With the Second Amendment to the 
District adopted September 12, 2016, one parcel was removed from the District with a taxable real property value of 
$409,000 as of March 31, 2002 (April 1, 2001), and the Original Assessed Value of the District was confirmed as 
$83,168,800 ($51,995,600 as of March 31, 2002 and $31,213,200 as of March 31, 2013). With the Third Amendment 
to the District adopted November 20, 2017, the Original Assessed Value of the District remained the same as there 
was just one parcel removed from the District, which had an Original Assessed Value as of March 31, 2002 (April 1, 
2001) of $0.  With the Fourth Amendment to the District adopted November 6, 2023, the Original Assessed Value of 
the District is now $80,002,900, resulting from the removal of ten parcels with a taxable real property value of 
$3,165,900.  Six of the parcels to be removed with this Fourth Amendment were included in the District as of its 
original designation and have an Original Assessed Value as of March 31, 2002 (April 1, 2001), and four of the 
parcels to be removed with this Fourth Amendment were added to the District as of the First Amendment and have 
an Original Assessed Value as of March 31, 2013 (April 1, 2012).  

District Action 
Acreage 
Change 

Total 
Acreage 

OAV Change Total OAV 

Original Designation  211 $52,364,600 
First Amendment +54.67 265.67 +$31,213,200 $83,577,800 
Second Amendment -0.81 264.86 -$409,000 $83,168,800 
Third Amendment -1.01 264.18 -$0 $83,168,800 
Fourth Amendment -16.63 247.55 -$3,165,900 $80,002,900 



 10 

EXHIBIT C: Maps of District as Amended 

  



City of Auburn, Maine 

Business & Community Development 
Glen Holmes, Director 
60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  
www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

 
TIF #10 Amendment 4 – Exhibit C 

Map of District Location within Municipality 
 

 



City of Auburn, Maine 

Business & Community Development 
Glen Holmes, Director 
60 Court Street  |  Auburn, Maine 04210  
www.auburnmaine.gov  |   207.333.6601 

 
TIF #10 Amendment 4 – Exhibit D 

Map of District Boundaries 
 

 



 11 

EXHIBIT D: Tax Increment Revenue Projections 

 

 

  

1 2002 2002-2003 52,364,600.00$ -$                           -$                     28.44 1,489,249.22$     -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

2 2003 2003-2004 52,364,600.00$ -$                           -$                     29.38 1,538,471.95$     -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

3 2004 2004-2005 52,364,600.00$ 85,602,700$               85,602,700$         29.38 1,538,471.95$     2,515,007.33$       2,515,007.33$       -$                       2,515,007.33$       

4 2005 2005-2006 52,364,600.00$ 86,651,100$               86,651,100$         30.48 1,596,073.01$     2,641,125.53$       2,641,125.53$       -$                       2,641,125.53$       

5 2006 2006-2007 52,364,600.00$ 77,642,700$               77,642,700$         24.35 1,275,078.01$     1,890,599.75$       1,890,599.75$       -$                       1,890,599.75$       

6 2007 2007-2008 52,364,600.00$ 93,049,100$               93,049,100$         19.28 1,009,589.49$     1,793,986.65$       1,793,986.65$       -$                       1,793,986.65$       

7 2008 2008-2009 52,364,600.00$ 90,541,100$               90,541,100$         18.41 964,032.29$        1,666,861.65$       1,666,861.65$       -$                       1,666,861.65$       

8 2009 2009-2010 52,364,600.00$ 89,634,800$               89,634,800$         18.31 958,795.83$        1,641,213.19$       1,641,213.19$       -$                       1,641,213.19$       

9 2010 2010-2011 52,364,600.00$ 89,970,300$               89,970,300$         19.30 1,010,636.78$     1,736,426.79$       1,736,426.79$       -$                       1,736,426.79$       

10 2011 2011-2012 52,364,600.00$ 87,798,400$               87,798,400$         19.39 1,015,349.59$     1,702,410.98$       1,702,410.98$       -$                       1,702,410.98$       

11 2012 2012-2013 52,364,600.00$ 87,192,500$               87,192,500$         19.59 1,025,822.51$     1,708,101.08$       1,708,101.08$       225.00$                 1,707,876.08$       

12 2013 2013-2014 84,411,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,724,516.73$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       -$                       1,775,890.01$       

13 2014 2014-2015 84,411,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,724,516.73$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       -$                       1,775,890.01$       

14 2015 2015-2016 84,411,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,724,516.73$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       -$                       1,775,890.01$       

15 2016 2016-2017 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,526.00$            1,759,364.01$       

16 2017 2017-2018 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,526.00$            1,759,364.01$       

17 2018 2018-2019 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,526.00$            1,759,364.01$       

18 2019 2019-2020 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       17,561.00$            1,758,329.01$       

19 2020 2020-2021 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       17,561.00$            1,758,329.01$       

20 2021 2021-2022 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       17,613.00$            1,758,277.01$       

21 2022 2022-2023 84,002,000.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,716,160.86$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

22 2023 2023-2024 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

23 2024 2024-2025 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

24 2025 2025-2026 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

25 2026 2026-2027 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

26 2027 2027-2028 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

27 2028 2028-2029 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

28 2029 2029-2030 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

29 2030 2030-2031 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

30 2031 2031-2032 79,908,300.00$ 86,925,600$               86,925,600$         20.43 1,632,526.57$     1,775,890.01$       1,775,890.01$       16,821.00$            1,759,069.01$       

 $     45,300,986 51,037,643.08$  51,037,643.08$ 270,748.00$       50,766,895.08$ 

1,701,254.77$    9,024.93$            1,692,229.84$    

Net Tax Revenue 

on CAV to City

Original 

Assessed 

Value (OAV)
1

Tax Revenue on 

OAV

Increased Assessed 

Value (IAV)
2

Captured 

Assessed Value 

(CAV) 100%
3

Tax Revenue on 

IAV 

Tax Revenue on 

CAV 

(100%  

Sheltered)

Mil 

Rate
4

Fiscal Year 

(July 1- 

June 30)

Tax Year 

April 1,

TIF 

Year

CEA Payments to 

Developers
5

30 Year TIF Total

Annual Average



 12 

EXHIBIT E: Public Project Costs 
 

  

Project 

Estimated 

Percentage 

of CAV 

Cost 

Estimate* 

Statutory 

Citation 

1 

Capital costs within the District related to the 

commercial development activities within the District, 

including, but not limited to, acquisition or construction 

of land, structures, fixtures or equipment, or the 

demolition, alteration, remodeling, repair or 

reconstruction of buildings, structures, and fixtures for 

public, recreational trail, commercial or transit use, 

including, but not limited to, site preparation, finishing 

work, real property assembly costs and other capital 

costs related to such improvements, such as licensing, 

permitting, planning, engineering and architectural and 

legal expenses. This project costs includes the 

construction of public garages within the District. 1 

10.0% $5,077,690  

30-A M.R.S. 

§5225(1)(A)(1)(a)-

(d),  

§5225 (1)(A)(3) 

2 

Capital costs within the District related to the 

commercial development activities within the District, 

including, but not limited to, construction of 

improvements, public ways, transit facilities, and 

recreational trails, including, but not limited to, 

pavement, widening, repair and reconstruction of roads, 

sidewalks and intersections, bicycle lanes, pedestrian 

safety measures, signage, bus shelters, benches, 

crosswalks, curb treatments, recreational trails and 

bridges.1  

10.0% $5,077,690  
30-A M.R.S.  

§ 5225(1)(A)(1)(a) 

3 

Costs of improvements for the construction, alteration or 

expansion of facilities outside of the District that are 

required due to improvements or commercial 

development and activities within the District, such as 

improvements, reconstruction, repair or widening of 

public ways and amenities on streets, sidewalks and 

intersections, bicycle lanes and pedestrian safety 

measures, and storm, sanitary sewer and water lines, 

electrical lines.1  

10.0% $5,077,690  
30-A M.R.S.  

§ 5225(1)(B)(1)  

4 

Costs associated with professional services rendered for 

projects within the District, including, but not limited to, 

engineering, planning, licensing, permitting, surveying, 

design, legal and accounting, and administrative 

expenses of staff time related to establishing and 

implementing the District and Development Program.  

5.0% $2,538,845  

30-A M.R.S.  

§§ 5225(1)(A)(4), 

(5), (7) 



 13 

5 

Costs of the construction, alteration or expansion of 

facilities, including, but not limited to, water, sewer, 

storm water, electrical, telephone, cable, broadband, and 

natural gas, that are located within the District or outside 

the District to the extent they are required due to 

improvements or commercial development and activities 

within the District.  

10.0% $5,077,690  

30-A M.R.S. §§  

(1)(A)(1), 

(1)(B)(1)  

6 

Costs of public safety improvements to include the 

acquisition of additional public safety equipment or 

personnel, or improvements to police and fire stations 

outside the District as made necessary by the 

establishment and operation of the District, and costs 

related to public safety facilities made necessary by 

economic development activities within the City (not to 

exceed 15% of the CAV of the District). 1, 3 

15.0% $7,616,534  

30-A M.R.S.  

§§ 5225(1) (B)(1), 

(2), (1)(C)(9) 

7 

Costs related to economic development programs and 

activities of the City directed at business retention and 

attraction, including, but not limited to, economic 

development staff salaries and/or consultant fees, and 

costs of funding economic development programs, 

events or marketing of the City as a business or arts 

location.1, 2 

15.0% $7,616,534  
30-A M.R.S.  

§ 5225(1)(C)(1) 

8 

Costs associated with administration of the District, 

including, but not limited to time spent by City 

employees in connection with the implementation of the 

Development Program.  

5.0% $2,538,845  
30-A M.R.S. 

§ 5225(1)(A)(5) 

9 

Costs of funding environmental improvement projects 

related to commercial district use or related to the 

commercial use or related to such activities within the 

City. 1 

10.0% $5,077,690  
30-A M.R.S. 

§ 5225(1)(C)(2) 

10 

Costs associated with the development and operation of 

affordable housing within the District; costs of 

improvements in support of municipal economic 

development activities in connection with affordable 

housing outside of the District; and costs associated with 

the operation and support of affordable housing in the 

City to serve ongoing economic development efforts or 

to assist those who are experiencing homelessness in the 

City. 

5.0% $2,538,845  

30-A M.R.S. § 

5225 (1)(A)(9), 

(B)(4), (C)(11), 

and (E)  

11 

Capital costs related to the construction or renovation of 

the City's central administrative office, the need for 

which is related to economic development within the 

City, up to 50% of such costs, not to exceed 15% of the 

captured assessed value within the District. 

5.0% $2,538,845  
30-A M.R.S. § 

5225(1)(C)(12) 



 14 

 

 

TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS 

 (OVER 30 YEARS) 

100.0% $50,776,895    

 

 

* These are estimates only. The City may allocate revenues generated by the district across approved 

project cost categories as needed. 
1 These project costs were authorized with the original Development Program. All other costs are being 

added with this Fourth Amendment.  
2  The use of TIF revenue for this project cost has also been authorized in the following TIF Districts 

within the City: #27, #26, #25, #10, #6 
3 The use of TIF revenue for this project cost has also been authorized in the following TIF Districts 

within the City: #27, #26, #25, and #6. 

Similar program costs contained within other current and future TIFs may be combined.  



 15 

EXHIBIT F: Public Hearing Notice 

 

 
CITY OF AUBURN 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

The Auburn City Council hereby provides notice that it will hold a public hearing at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, 

November 6, 2023 in the Council Chambers of Auburn City Hall, 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine, for 

purposes of receiving public comments on the proposed Fourth Amendment to the Downtown Omnibus 

Municipal Tax Increment Financing District #10 and the Development Program for said District pursuant 

to the provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.   

 

The proposed Fourth Amendment to the District will to remove ten parcels from the District, consisting of 

16.632 acres.  The City intends to establish new Tax Increment Financing Districts for one or more of these 

parcels following adoption of the Fourth Amendment to the District for the purpose of capturing tax 

revenues from new assessed value generated by investments made on these properties.  

 

A copy of the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District and Development Program is on file with the 

City Clerk at City Hall, 60 Court Street, Auburn, Maine, and may be reviewed during normal business 

hours.  All interested residents are invited to attend the hearing and to be heard at that time.   

 

 

[proof of publication attached] 

  





 16 

EXHIBIT G: Public Hearing Minutes 
 

 (see attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 17 

EXHIBIT H: Orders of City Council 

 

ORDER OF THE AUBURN CITY COUNCIL 

November 6, 2023 

 

WHEREAS, the City adopted the #10 Downtown Municipal Development Tax Increment 

Financing District (the “District”) and approved a municipal tax increment financing district 

development program for said District (the “Development Program”) by order of its City Council 

on July 15, 2002, pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, 

which was later confirmed by a letter of the Maine Department of Economic and Community 

Development (“DECD”) dated June 15, 2012; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City adopted the First Amendment to the District and Development 

Program by order of its City Council on December 2, 2013, and DECD approved the amendment 

by letter dated July 23, 2014 (the “First Amendment”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City adopted the Second Amendment to the District and Development 

Program by orders of its City Council on September 12, 2016 (the “Second Amendment”), and 

adopted the Third Amendment to the District and Development Program by orders of its City 

Council on November 20, 2017 (the “Third Amendment”), which were jointly approved by DECD 

per letter dated March 6, 2018; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District will remove certain properties 

from the District for the purpose of creating new Tax Increment Financing Districts dedicated to 

those projects to provide assistance to the developers of said projects; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to adopt this Fourth Amendment to the District and 

Development Program in order to maximize the benefits of Tax Increment Financing for certain 

properties and projects within the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, adopting and implementing the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District 

and Development Program will provide opportunities for significant new commercial development 

within the City and new employment opportunities for residents of the City and surrounding 

communities, and will improve and broaden the tax base of the City and improve the general 

economy of the City, the region and the State of Maine; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has held a public hearing on the proposed Fourth Amendment to the 

District in accordance with the requirements of 30-A MRSA §5226(1) upon at least ten (10) days 

prior notice published in a newspaper of general circulation within the City; and, 

WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District and 

Development Program as presented to the City Council this day and as has been on file in the City 

Clerk’s Office at City Hall; and 

 



 18 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Commissioner of the Maine Department of Economic 

and Community Development (“DECD”) will approve the Fourth Amendment to the District and 

Development Program; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, the City Council hereby Orders as follows: 

  

Section 1. The City Council hereby finds and determines that: 

 

(a) Adoption and implementation of the Fourth Amendment to the District and the 

Development Program will generate substantial economic benefits for the City and its 

residents, including employment opportunities, broadened and improved tax base and 

economic stimulus, and therefore constitute a good and valid public purpose and will 

contribute to the economic growth or well-being of the inhabitants of the City or to the 

betterment of the health, welfare or safety of the inhabitants of the City; and 

 

(b)The City Council has considered all evidence presented to it with regard to any 

adverse economic effect on or detriment to any existing business and has found and 

determined that adoption and implementation of the Fourth Amendment to the District and 

the Development Program will not result in a substantial detriment to any existing business 

in the City, and any adverse economic effect of the Fourth Amendment to the District and 

the Development Program on any existing business in the City is outweighed by the 

contributions expected to be made by the projects and improvements described in the Fourth 

Amendment to the District and the Development Program to the economic growth or well-

being of the City or to the betterment of the health, welfare or safety of the inhabitants of 

the City.   

 

Section 2.  Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as 

amended, the City Council hereby adopts the Fourth Amendment to the #10 Downtown 

Municipal Development Tax Increment Financing District as presented to the City Council.  

Section 3.  Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as 

amended, the City Council hereby adopts the Fourth Amendment to the Development 

Program for the #10 Downtown Municipal Development Tax Increment Financing District 

in the form presented to the City Council. 

Section 4.  The foregoing adoption of the Fourth Amendment to the District and 

Development Program shall automatically become final and shall take full force and effect 

upon approval by the Commissioner of the State of Maine Department of Economic and 

Community Development, without requirement of any further action by the City, the City 

Council, or any other party. 

Section 5.  Pursuant to the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. §5227, the percentage of 

the Increased Assessed Value to be retained as Captured Assessed Value in the District and 

the term of said District is confirmed as set forth in the Development Program. 



 19 

Section 6.  The City Manager be and hereby is authorized and directed, on behalf of 

the City of Auburn, Maine, to submit to the Commissioner of DECD for review and 

approval, pursuant to the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. §5226(2), the application and 

such other documentation as may be necessary or appropriate for the final approval of this 

Fourth Amendment to the District and the Development Program.  The City Manager is 

further authorized and empowered, at his or her discretion from time to time, to make such 

technical revisions to the District or the Development Program for the District, or to the 

scope, cost or description of the public improvements to be financed with the portion of tax 

increment revenues generated by the District and retained by the City as described in the 

Development Program, as the City Manager deems reasonably necessary or convenient in 

order to facilitate the process for review and approval of the District and Development 

Program by DECD, or for any other reason, so long as such revisions are not inconsistent 

with these resolutions or the basic structure and intent of the District and the Development 

Program.   

Section 7.  The City Manager be and hereby is authorized, empowered and directed to 

enter into the agreements contemplated by the Development Program, in the name of and 

on behalf of the City, such agreements to be in such form and to contain such terms and 

provisions, not inconsistent with the Development Program, as the City Manager may 

approve, the City Manager’s approval to be conclusively evidenced by his or her execution 

thereof. 

 

This Order shall take effect immediately upon adoption.  
 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 



 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 144-11062023 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER OF THE AUBURN CITY COUNCIL 

November 6, 2023 

WHEREAS, the City adopted the #10 Downtown Municipal Development Tax Increment Financing 
District (the “District”) and approved a municipal tax increment financing district development 
program for said District (the “Development Program”) by order of its City Council on July 15, 
2002, pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, which 
was later confirmed by a letter of the Maine Department of Economic and Community 
Development (“DECD”) dated June 15, 2012; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the First Amendment to the District and Development Program by 
order of its City Council on December 2, 2013, and DECD approved the amendment by letter 
dated July 23, 2014 (the “First Amendment”); and  
 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the Second Amendment to the District and Development Program 
by orders of its City Council on September 12, 2016 (the “Second Amendment”), and adopted 
the Third Amendment to the District and Development Program by orders of its City Council on 
November 20, 2017 (the “Third Amendment”), which were jointly approved by DECD per letter 
dated March 6, 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District will remove certain properties from 
the District for the purpose of creating new Tax Increment Financing Districts dedicated to those 
projects to provide assistance to the developers of said projects; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City seeks to adopt this Fourth Amendment to the District and Development 
Program in order to maximize the benefits of Tax Increment Financing for certain properties and 
projects within the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, adopting and implementing the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District and 
Development Program will provide opportunities for significant new commercial development 
within the City and new employment opportunities for residents of the City and surrounding 
communities, and will improve and broaden the tax base of the City and improve the general 
economy of the City, the region and the State of Maine; and  
 



 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 144-11062023 

WHEREAS, the City has held a public hearing on the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District 
in accordance with the requirements of 30-A MRSA §5226(1) upon at least ten (10) days prior 
notice published in a newspaper of general circulation within the City; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt the proposed Fourth Amendment to the District and 
Development Program as presented to the City Council this day and as has been on file in the City 
Clerk’s Office at City Hall; and  
  
WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Commissioner of the Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development (“DECD”) will approve the Fourth Amendment to the District and 
Development Program;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council hereby Orders as follows:  
 
Section 1. The City Council hereby finds and determines that:  
 

(a) Adoption and implementation of the Fourth Amendment to the District and the 
Development Program will generate substantial economic benefits for the City and its 
residents, including employment opportunities, broadened and improved tax base and 
economic stimulus, and therefore constitute a good and valid public purpose and will 
contribute to the economic growth or well-being of the inhabitants of the City or to the 
betterment of the health, welfare or safety of the inhabitants of the City; and  
 
(b)The City Council has considered all evidence presented to it with regard to any adverse 
economic effect on or detriment to any existing business and has found and determined 
that adoption and implementation of the Fourth Amendment to the District and the 
Development Program will not result in a substantial detriment to any existing business 
in the City, and any adverse economic effect of the Fourth Amendment to the District and 
the Development Program on any existing business in the City is outweighed by the 
contributions expected to be made by the projects and improvements described in the 
Fourth Amendment to the District and the Development Program to the economic growth 
or well-being of the City or to the betterment of the health, welfare or safety of the 
inhabitants of the City.  

 
Section 2. Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, the 
City Council hereby adopts the Fourth Amendment to the #10 Downtown Municipal 
Development Tax Increment Financing District as presented to the City Council.  



 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 144-11062023 

Section 3. Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, the 
City Council hereby adopts the Fourth Amendment to the Development Program for the #10 
Downtown Municipal Development Tax Increment Financing District in the form presented to the 
City Council.  

Section 4. The foregoing adoption of the Fourth Amendment to the District and Development 
Program shall automatically become final and shall take full force and effect upon approval by 
the Commissioner of the State of Maine Department of Economic and Community Development, 
without requirement of any further action by the City, the City Council, or any other party.  

Section 5. Pursuant to the provisions of 30-A M.R.S.A. §5227, the percentage of the Increased 
Assessed Value to be retained as Captured Assessed Value in the District and the term of said 
District is confirmed as set forth in the Development Program.  
 
Section 6. The City Manager be and hereby is authorized and directed, on behalf of the City of 
Auburn, Maine, to submit to the Commissioner of DECD for review and approval, pursuant to the 
requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. §5226(2), the application and such other documentation as may 
be necessary or appropriate for the final approval of this Fourth Amendment to the District and 
the Development Program. The City Manager is further authorized and empowered, at his or her 
discretion from time to time, to make such technical revisions to the District or the Development 
Program for the District, or to the scope, cost or description of the public improvements to be 
financed with the portion of tax increment revenues generated by the District and retained by 
the City as described in the Development Program, as the City Manager deems reasonably 
necessary or convenient in order to facilitate the process for review and approval of the District 
and Development Program by DECD, or for any other reason, so long as such revisions are not 
inconsistent with these resolutions or the basic structure and intent of the District and the 
Development Program.  

Section 7. The City Manager be and hereby is authorized, empowered and directed to enter into 
the agreements contemplated by the Development Program, in the name of and on behalf of the 
City, such agreements to be in such form and to contain such terms and provisions, not 
inconsistent with the Development Program, as the City Manager may approve, the City 
Manager’s approval to be conclusively evidenced by his or her execution thereof.  
 
This Order shall take effect immediately upon adoption.  



 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 
 

City of Auburn 
City Council Information Sheet 

 
 

 

 
 
Council Workshop or Meeting Date:  November 6, 2023                                  Order: 145-11062023 
 
Author:  Councilor Rick Whiting and Councilor Leroy Walker 
 

Subject:  ARPA Request from Rebuilding Together Lewiston/Auburn 
 
Information:  Rebuilding Together Lewiston/Auburn is a non-profit volunteer organization, supported entirely 
by contributions of time, labor, material and money, who caters to homeowners who, because of limited 
finances, are unable to make necessary repairs to their home to maintain and stay in them.  Skilled and 
unskilled volunteers, along with able-bodied members of the recipient’s family and friends, complete the 
repairs at no cost to the homeowner.  Since the L/A chapter’s start in 2002, about 150 homes have been 
repaired in the Lewiston/Auburn area.  The average cost of each project is approximately $2,500.  
 
Rebuilding Together Lewiston/Auburn is requesting a $10,000 donation from Auburn’s American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA) funds. 
 
This project aligns with ARPA’s focus area 2.18 – Housing Support:  Other Housing Assistance.  
 

 
City Budgetary Impacts:  None 
 

 
Staff Recommended Action: Allocate $10,000.00 from ARPA funds to Rebuilding Together Lewiston/Auburn 
who will make necessary repairs to homes of those financially unable to do so.  
 

 
Previous Meetings and History: None 
 

 
City Manager Comments:  
 
 

I concur with the recommendation.  Signature:    
 

Attachments:  
 
 

 













 

 

Richard Whiting, Ward One 

Joseph Morin, Ward Four 

Belinda A. Gerry, At Large 

Stephen G. Milks, Ward Three 

Dana Staples, At Large 

Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., City Manager 

Ryan Hawes, Ward Two 

Leroy G. Walker, Ward Five 

Jason J. Levesque, Mayor 

City Council Order 

ORDER 145-11062023 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDERED, that the City of Auburn City Council hereby approves the allocation of $10,000.00 

from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds to the Rebuilding Together Lewiston/Auburn 

who will make necessary repairs to homes of those financially unable to do so.  


	0  Agenda 11-6-2023
	1  Info Sheet Wardens-Ward Clerks
	1  Order 142-11062023 Warden and Ward Clerk appt
	2a  Minutes 10-16-2023
	2b  Minutes 10-23-2023
	3  NYA 2023 Special Event App signed
	4  a  Info Sheet_DwellingSize
	4  C_Motion_Recommendation_to_Council_Dwelling Size
	4  D_Zoning Text Amendment_Sec._60_2.___Definitions. Dwelling size limitations
	4  E_Staff Report_Minimum Dwelling Size
	4  F_Research for PB Questions
	4  G
	4  H_Ordinance template Dwelling Size
	4c
	5  A_AreaB_Info Sheet-COAPC10-161
	5  c Motion Recommendation
	5  D_Option 1 Map
	5  E_Staff Report_Area B_10_10
	5  F_Sec._60_548B.___Traditional_Neighborhood_T_4.2B_AreaA
	Sec. 60-548B. Traditional Neighborhood T-4.2B.
	Sec. 60-548B.1. Building placement and configuration T-4.2B.
	Sec. 60-548B.2. Building frontages T-4.2B.
	Sec. 60-548B.3. External elements T-4.2B.
	Sec. 60-554. Form based code use and parking matrix.

	5  G_ Ordinance map
	6  Info Sheet Miller Street
	6a  186 Main Street - Easement Plan 2023-07-31 220503-01 Stamped
	Sheets and Views
	6 EASEMENT PLAN


	6b  Certified Mail-Miller St Relocation
	6c  McDonough_Notice Miller Street Abutters
	6c  Turner_Notice Miller Street Abutters
	6d  Miller Street Order with vote results
	7  Info Sheet Chestnut Street
	7a  sign off on Damages
	7b  Order 143-11062023 Chestnut Street Last
	8  Info Sheet - TIF10 Amendment 4 11.6.23
	8a  FINALAuburn Downtown TIF Fourth Amendment w Exhibits
	Insert from: "TIF #10 Amendment 4 District Maps.pdf"
	Exhibit C - District Location
	Exhibit D - District boundaries


	8b  Order 144-11062023 TIF 10 amendment
	9  Info sheet ARPA REBUILDING TOGETHER
	9a  ARPA REBUILDING TOGETHER L-A
	9b  ORDER 145-11062023 ARPA REBUILDING TOGETHER L-A

